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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given
that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take
no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation
as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the” Directors”) of Brightstar
Technology Group Co., Ltd (the” Company ") collectively and individually
accept full responsibilities, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the” GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (together
the” Group”). The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES (FOR THE
PURPOSES OF THE GEM LISTING RULES)
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis

Ms. Leung Yin Fai (HKICPA, ACCA, CPA Australia)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Leung Yin Fai (HKICPA, ACCA, CPA Australia)

REGISTERED OFFICE IN CAYMAN ISLANDS
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park,

P.O. Box 1350,

Grand Cayman KY1-1108,

Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit D2, 5/F, Hoi Bun Industrial Building,

6 Wing Yip Street, Kwun Tong,

Kowloon, Hong Kong

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
Tricor Investor Services Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre,

16 Harcourt Road,

Hong Kong

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER AGENT

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park,
P.O. Box 1350,

Grand Cayman KY1-1108,
Cayman Islands

AUDITOR

Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

and Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

LEGAL ADVISER
D. S. Cheung & Co

PRINCIPAL BANKER
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.intechproductions.com

STOCK CODE
8446

NEIER (E)

REAKRK (BGEMEHRAMS)

BIEE LA
RIBEL L (HKICPA ~ ACCA + CPACEN))

RAWE
RIRBLL (HKICPA - ACCA ~ CPA (M)

FHEREZMPSE
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park,
P.O. Box 1350,

Grand Cayman KY1-1108,
Cayman Islands

EREANMEERTEERME

EBNE
BIELREEN
BT ¥ KESED2E

EEROCBFERDTE
BEEHFELERAT

BB

ERE165

RRSBMPLITE

HERERNEBFERAR

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park,
P.0O. Box 1350,

Grand Cayman KY1-1108,
Cayman Islands

B B
PEREREHAEHHERAA
HEREHE

RET 2 B 5 H R AR D

A EEE
R {1 12 6 25 A

FEAERRT
BB LSEYRTERAA

NGIE R

www.intechproductions.com

B 42 X 5%

8446

BREMEEEROHERLR —Z_NFFR

03



04

Chairman’s Statement
FEHRESE

To the Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company, | am
pleased to present the audited consolidated annual financial statements
of Brightstar Technology Group Co., Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2024. Leveraging on years of experience and competitive
strengths of the Group, including leading visual display solution provider
for pop concerts in Hong Kong, strong capabilities for providing
customised visual display solutions and in-house repair and technical
support, large quantity and wide range of visual display equipment; and
experienced management and technical staff with strong knowhow
and expertise, the management team of the Group effectively expand
the Group’s customer base and maintained a rapid growth in terms of
overall sales. The Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$164.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2024, representing an increase
of approximately HK$68.7 million or 71.9% as compared with the
year ended 31 December 2023. The gross profit of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024 increased by approximately 185.1% to
approximately HK$75.7 million from HK$26.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2023. As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit was
approximately HK$40.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2024,
as compared with a loss of approximately HK$27.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The profit was mainly attributable to the
increase in gross profit as a result of the increase in revenue.

The Board will proactively seek potential business opportunities and
explore the possibility to expand the application of the Group’s visual
display solutions to industries other than live events industry so as to
broaden the sources of income of the Group and enhance value to the
shareholders.

Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd Annual Report 2024
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

Looking forward, the Group will make steady progress in accordance
with the plans formulated, so as to facilitate effective implementation of
the business objectives of the Group and bring benefits from it.

The Board would like to extend its sincere thanks to the shareholders of
the Company and the Group, business partners and customers for their
utmost support to the Group. The Group would also like to take this
opportunity to thank all management members and staff for their hard
work and dedication throughout the year.

Cui Hai Bin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREN WK

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in (1) the provision of visual display
solution service for concerts and events primarily in Hong Kong, Macau
and the PRC, (2) the provision of information technology consulting
services in the PRC and (3) the provision of hotel reservation and
convention planning services in the PRC.

Visual display solutions

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group was engaged in
909 pop concert shows for Hong Kong and non-Hong Kong artists/bands
(2023: 516).

The Group derived approximately 93.90% of its total revenue during
the year ended 31 December 2024 from pop concerts (2023: 84.28%),
the majority of which took place in Hong Kong and the PRC. The
remainder of the Group’s revenue of visual display solutions business was
attributable to other live events, including corporate events, exhibitions,
sports and recreational events and other live performances, as well as
equipment rental.

Information technology consulting

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue of provision of
information technology consulting services amounted to approximately
HK$0.3 million (representing 0.2% of the total revenue) (2023: HK$2.5
million (representing 2.6% of the total revenue)) which was mainly
contributed by an information technology project of customers in the
PRC.

Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd Annual Report 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Hotel reservation and convention planning

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue of provision
of hotel reservation and convention planning services amounted to
approximately HK$0.5 million (representing 0.3% of the total revenue)
(2023: HK$2.4 million (representing 2.5%of the total revenue)).

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group faced the
following risks and uncertainties that might have affected the Group’s
financial condition, results of operations, business and prospects:

Financial risk

The Group’s operations are exposed to various types of financial risks
such as foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. Details of the aforesaid risk factors and the respective risk
management measures are shown in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

Operational risk

The success of the Group’s business is largely attributable to the
Group’s ability to keep pace with the latest development of visual
display technology in the market in order to provide feasible and cost-
effective visual display solutions to the Group’s customers. The Group’s
executive directors and senior management are responsible for assessing
the change in market trends and making decisions to invest in suitable
visual display equipment to cope with the latest customer demands and
specifications in a timely and cost-effective manner.

The business opportunities arise from the market demand for new
technologies. The Group will keep to explore the new technologies to
extend its existing video display business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BIRE & wm 0T (48)

Cyber risk and security

The Group’s computer equipment and website are exposed to attack,
damage or unauthorized access in this cyber era. Failure to protect
the Group’s computer equipment and website from any unauthorized
access can result in reputational damage, financial loss and disruptions in
operations.

The Group has installed appropriate anti-virus software and internet fire
walls to protect the Group’s computer equipment and website from
any cyber-attacks. Trainings have been provided to the Group’s staff to
follow a security code setting procedures to minimize the likelihood of
any unauthorized access to the Group’s computer equipment.

Data fraud or theft

The Group’s critical information is kept and managed by the Group’s
executive directors and key management. Failure to protect the Group’s
critical information from any data fraud or theft can result in financial
loss and disruptions in operations.

Trainings have been provided to the Group’s executive directors and key
management for keeping and managing the Group’s critical information
to minimize the likelihood of any data fraud or theft.

Environment and social risks

For details of how the Group addresses to its environment and social
risks, where applicable, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 49 to 73 of this annual report.

Market risk

The Group’s business performance and financial conditions may be
affected by the state of economy in the PRC including Hong Kong. The
economy of the PRC is susceptible to material fluctuations, volatility,
disruptions or downturn of broader global economic and financial
environment. The Group’s executive directors are responsible for
determining an overall market risk control framework, monitoring and
assessing market conditions and devising refined policies in light of any
adverse factors affecting the Group’s performance and market position.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group generates revenue from providing (i) visual display solutions
to its customers in relation to pop concert shows and various other
live events; (ii) information technology consulting services; (iii) hotel
reservation and convention planning services; and (iv) equipment rental.

The following table sets out a breakdown of the Group’s revenue by
source of income during the year ended 31 December 2024 with the
comparative figures for the year ended 31 December 2023:

BIRE & wm oA ()

Bt %5 [0 B8

Wz

AEEFBRUATRBEL .S - (VAT
FRHEERTSELEEERZRBEMES
F (i) E R
BREARS  (i)BEERT e H R8RS
R(v)EEHEE -

TRENAEBHE=Z_FT_NF+ = A
=+t HIEFERBARIRE S KUK EH
WREBEE_ZTE_=F+_HA=1T—HL#HF
EHLERHET :

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
BE-Z2-MmF BE_Z_=F
TZA=+—-BLEFE TZA=T—RILFE
% of total % of total
HK$'000 revenue HK$'000 revenue
148 W 3 1 B W 2=
FExT Bt FHET Bkt
Visual display solutions BWEBERBRAER 163,130 99.2 90,751 94.8
Information technology BB
consulting 269 0.2 2,479 2.6
Hotel reservation and BIETEFI MR E
convention planning 492 0.3 2,353 2.5
Equipment rental HEHEE 546 0.3 85 0.1
Total et 164,437 100.0 95,668 100.0

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group principally derived
its revenue from the provision of visual display solutions, the provision
of information technology consulting services and the provision of hotel
reservation and convention planning services, which accounted for
99.2% of the Group’s total revenue (2023: approximately 94.8%), 0.2%
of the Group’s total revenue (2023: 2.6%) and 0.3% of the Group’s total
revenue (2023: 2.5%) respectively. The Group’s revenue increased by
approximately 71.9% from approximately HK$95.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$164.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BIRE & wm 0T (48)

Visual display solutions

The following table sets out a breakdown of the Group’s revenue from
visual display solutions during the year ended 31 December 2024 with
the comparative figures for the year ended 31 December 2023. For the
purpose of revenue breakdown presentation, other live events include
corporate events, sports and recreation events, exhibitions and other live
performances

Year ended 31 December 2024
BE-E-ME+-A=1-HLEE

RERTBARR
TREAEBEHZEZE T _WF+ - A
—t— HUIEFEXRBAERBRERTIRDN

WHRBAMBE_T_=F+_A=+—
BUEFENLEREF 25 KEHAAM
EOEMBRSEDERELEEY BER
KEES BREARHEMBBESRE -

Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-Z-=5+-pA=1-HIEE

% of total % of total

revenue Average revenue Average

from visual revenue from visual revenue

No.of  Revenue display  per show No. of Revenue display per show

shows  (HK$'000)  solutions  (HK$'000) shows  (HK$'000) solutions  (HK$'000)

tREBET  SREL EREET  BREL

B bE BAFRE  TYNE At k& BArRE  IOks

88 (T#n) Ww&EEsE  (FER) g8 (FEL) Y&ask (AL

Pop concerts MITERERE 909 154,400 94.6 170 516 80,631 8838 156

Other live events 55 543 8,730 5.4 16 517 10,120 112 20
Total revenue from visual  BEBRERFER

display solutions Wz 1,452 163,130 100.0 112 1,033 90,751 100.0 88

The increase in revenue from pop concerts was mainly attributable to
effect of (i) the increase in the number of pop concert shows undertaken
by the Group from 516 for the year ended 31 December 2023 to 909 for
the year ended 31 December 2024; and (ii) the increase in the average
revenue per show for pop concerts from approximately HK$156,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$170,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

The decrease in revenue from other live events was mainly attributable
to net-off effect of (i) the increase in the number of other live events
undertaken by the Group from 517 for the year ended 31 December
2023 to 543 for the year ended 31 December 2024, and (ii) the decrease
in the average revenue per show for other live events from approximately
HK$20,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 to HK$16,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Revenue analysis by geographical location

The following table sets out a breakdown of the revenue of the Group
from pop concerts by geographical location during the year ended
31 December 2024 with comparative figures for the year ended 31

BIRE & am M DT (48

BB EE DK E DT

TREJNEBE-_FT_ME+_A=+—H
LTFEEASEERMBUEE D RITILE
BENRERAKBE T _=F+_H

December 2023: =t+t—BLEFENLERET
Year ended 31 December 2024 Year ended 31 December 2023
BE-B-MET-A=1T-HLEE BE-Z-=F1t-A=+-BL%E
% of total Average % of total Average
revenue revenue revenue revenue
No.of  Revenue  frompop  per show No. of Revenue  from pop per show
shows  (HK$'000) concerts  (HK$'000) shows  (HK$'000) concerts  (HK$'000)
fERITERE  SFRH BRTEE  HER
B hE  EEEE  IHKE it K& ERER TH4&
%R (TEx) W&EEIH  (FER) (Thr) Ymsslw  (Fix)
Pop concerts RITEHEES
Hong Kong BE 273 41,436 26.9 152 223 29,619 36.7 133
PRC i 414 81,257 52.6 196 184 30,017 37.2 163
Macau B 199 21,315 17.7 137 83 17,111 22.0 213
Others Efty 23 4,392 2.8 191 26 3,284 4.1 126
Total revenue frompop AL EE S BME
concerts 909 154,400 100.0 170 516 80,631 100.0 156
BREMNEEERGERAR —Z-WNFFIR
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Co

EHEE RO (F)

The following table sets out a breakdown of the revenue of the Group
from other live events by geographical location during the year ended
31 December 2024 with comparative figures for the year ended 31
December 2023:

Year ended 31 December 2024

ntinued)

TEREBIEE=E_FT_WMFF+_A=+—H
IEFEASEZMWEMNES HHEMIBIHE
FHWRZHEAREE T _=ZF+ A
S+ HLEFENLEHRE

Year ended 31 December 2023

BE-S-MET-A=T-HLEE BE-S-=E1-_A=1-RLEE
% of total Average % of total Average
revenue revenue revenue revenue
No. of Revenue from other  per show No. of Revenue  from other per show
shows  (HK$'000) liveevents  (HK$'000) shows  (HK$'000)  liveevents  (HK$'000)
REMRSE  SREE EEBRE  SREL

R e EEHA
BB (TEn) 4HEESH

Tl R Wg aBE Tl
(Fi&x) g8 (TEm) k&ask  (FET)

Other live events HRGES

Hong Kong 0 321 5,343 61.2 17 430 7,795 893 18
PRC i 9 76 09 8 16 m 3.1 6
Macau 2P 213 3311 319 16 41 2,053 235 50
Total revenue from other ~ E AR5 /5 &) Bl 2E

live events 543 8,730 100.0 16 517 10,120 1159 2
Information technology consulting BAREZS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue of provision of
information technology consulting services amounted to approximately
HK$0.3 million (representing 0.2% of the total revenue) (2023: HK$2.5
million (representing 2.6% of the total revenue)) which was mainly
contributed by an information technology project of customers in the
PRC.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Hotel reservation and convention planning

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue of provision
of hotel reservation and convention planning services amounted to
approximately HK$0.5 million (representing 0.3% of the total revenue)
(2023: HK$2.4 million (representing 2.5% of the total revenue)).

Cost of services

The cost of services of the Group mainly include depreciation of property,
plant and equipment, direct labour costs, subcontracting charges, freight
and logistics expenses, cost of equipment and spare parts and rental
expenses related to lease of equipment. The Group’s cost of services
increased by approximately 28.4% from approximately HK$69.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$88.7 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024. Such increase was mainly due
to the increase of property, plant and equipment and the increase of
depreciation of property, plant and equipment to handle the increase of
revenue.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
amounted to approximately HK$75.7 million (2023: gross profit of
approximately HK$26.6 million), representing a gross profit margin
of approximately 46.1% (2023: gross profit margin of approximately
27.8%). The increase in gross profit margin was mainly attributable to
the increase in revenue.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group mainly include administrative
staff costs, depreciation of right-of-use assets, rental expenses of short-
term leases in respect of rental premises and others. The Group’s
administrative expenses decreased by approximately 25.5% from
approximately HK$51.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately HK$38.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.
Such decrease was mainly due to decrease of administrative expenses for
information technology consulting business and hotel reservation and
convention planning business as the decrease of revenue of these two
businesses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BIRE & wm 0T (48)

Finance costs, net

The finance cost, net of the Group mainly consists of interests on bank
borrowings which were all repayable within five years, interest expenses
on obligations under finance lease and interest on lease liabilities. The
Group’s finance costs increase by approximately 12.4% from HK$0.66
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately HK$0.74
million for the year ended 31 December 2024 which was mainly due to
the increase of average lease liabilities.

Income tax expense

The Group is subject to income tax on an enterprise basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of the
Group are domiciled and operate.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, all PRC subsidiaries
of the Company were subject to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax at the
rate of 25.0%.

Pursuant to the enactment of the two-tiered profit tax rates issued by the
Inland Revenue Department (“IRD”) from the year of assessment 2018/19
onwards, the Group’s first HK$2 million of assessable profits under Hong
Kong profits tax for the year ended 31 December 2024 is subject to a
tax rate of 8.25%, while the remaining assessable profits are subject to a
tax rate of 16.5%. During the year ended 31 December 2024, no Hong
Kong profits tax has been provided for as the Group did not generate
any estimated assessable profit (2023: same).

The Macau subsidiary of the Company was subject to Macau
complementary tax at the rate of 12.0% on the estimated assessable
income exceeding MOP600,000 during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

Our income tax expenses changed from approximately HK$0.6 million
of income tax expenses for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately HK$1.0 million of income tax expense for the year ended
31 December 2024 due to the increase of profit for before tax.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Profit/(loss) for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit was approximately
HK$40.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, as compared
with a loss of approximately HK$27.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. The profit was mainly attributable to the increase in
gross profit as a result of the increase in revenue.

Business Update

Amid the global economy is still facing various challenges brought by
the high inflationary pressure and soaring interest rates, with the strong
support of the PRC government in unleash the consumption potential,
the Group anticipated that the economy in the PRC including Hong Kong
and Macau will accelerate growth in 2025.

The Group anticipated that the prospects for the Group’s video display
solutions business will become more promising in 2025 due to the
improved macroeconomic atmosphere and market conditions coupled
with the increase in clients’ production budgets. Due to the development
of the mass media and entertainment market, more styles of performing
arts are introduced to the audience, especially in the PRC and the number
of artists who can organize concert tour with more number of shows is
increasing. This will bring renewed impetus for growth to the Group’s
video display solutions business.

The management will keep to explore more business opportunities to
diversify the business of the Group in 2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BIEE T am AT ()

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Financial Resources, Liquidity and Capital Structure

The Group finances its operations primarily through cash generated from
operating activities and interest-bearing bank borrowing, overdrafts and
finance leases. The Group recorded net current assets of approximately
HK$5.1 million as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: net current
assets of approximately HK$106.2 million).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current ratio was approximately
1.04 (31 December 2023: approximately 1.98) and the Group’s gearing
ratio calculated based on the total debt (including shareholder’s loans)
at the end of the period divided by total equity at the end of the period
was approximately 14.1% (31 December 2023: approximately 18.0%).
The decrease of the Group’s gearing ratio during the year ended 31
December 2024 was mainly due to the increase in total equity.

As at 31 December 2024, the maximum limit of the banking facilities
available to the Group amounted to HK$13 million (31 December 2023:
HK$13 million). The bank borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong
dollars, repayable within one year or on demand and interest-bearing at
floating rates from 3.5% to 4.5% per annum (31 December 2023: 3.5%
to 7.7% per annum).

As at 31 December 2024, the capital structure of the Group consisted
of equity attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$187.0 million, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

In order to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position,
101,488,000 subscription shares were allotted and issued to four
subscribers at the subscription price of HK$0.165 per subscription share
on 30 April 2024. For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 8 April 2024 and 30 April 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE RISKS

The Group operates mainly in the PRC including Hong Kong and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to certain purchases with United States dollars
(“US$”) and Macau Patacas (“MOP”). Foreign exchange risk arises when
future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities are
denominated in a currency that is not the group entities’ functional
currency. The Group however did not engage in any derivatives
agreements and did not commit to any financial instrument to hedge its
foreign exchange exposure during the year ended 31 December 2024.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the year ended 31 December 2024. The Group
strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit
assessments and evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To
manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity
position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets,
liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding requirements from
time to time.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 23 May 2023, Guangzhou Yiciyuan Technology Company Limited*
(BMEXRTRHEER AT, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (as the purchaser)(the “Purchaser”) and Guangzhou Lingjing
Smart Technology Company Limited* (EMEIRE ZERHETER QA (as
the vendor) (the “Vendor”) entered into a sale and purchase agreement
(the “SPA”), pursuant to which the Purchaser conditionally agreed
to acquire, and the Vendor conditionally agreed to sell 10% of the
registered capital (the “Target Shares”) of Shenzhen Evolution Equation
Technology Company Limited* CE Y71 #E (b 75 E R B R A 7)) (the
“Target Company”) at the total consideration of RMB50,000,000 in cash
(the “Acquisition”). Completion of the Acquisition took place on 23 April
2024, upon which the Vendor had transferred the Target Shares to the
Purchaser.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BIEE T am AT ()

Since the industrial and commercial registration of the Target Shares has
not been completed as at 23 April 2024, the Vendor and the Purchaser
subsequently entered into a trustee agreement on 23 May 2024, and
supplemented by supplemental trustee agreements dated 11 September
2024 and 18 September 2024 (collectively, the “Trustee Agreements”),
pursuant to which (i) the Purchaser and the Vendor confirmed that
completion of the Acquisition had taken place on 23 April 2024; and
(i) the Vendor agreed to act as a bare trustee to hold the Target Shares
on behalf of the Purchaser with effect from 23 April 2024 until the
completion of the industrial and commercial registration of the Target
Shares. The relevant industrial and commercial registration of the transfer
of the Target Shares were completed on 14 November 2024, upon which
the Purchaser became the registered owner of the Target Shares and
the Vendor ceased to act as a bare trustee to hold the Target Shares on
behalf of the Purchaser pursuant to the Trustee Agreements.

For further details of the Acquisition, please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 23 May 2023, 22 May 2024 and 18 November
2024.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group did not have any significant investments, material acquisitions nor
disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material capital
commitments (31 December 2023: HK$11,035,000) or any material
contingent liabilities.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any pledged short-
term bank deposits as security for the Group’s banking facilities (31
December 2023: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

USE OF PROCEEDS

2023 Share Issuance

The Company allotted and issued 13,157,894 shares to ST MA Limited,
a controlling shareholder of the Company, under a special mandate on
8 May 2023 (the “2023 Share Issuance”) and the net proceeds from
the 2023 Share Issuance, after deduction of related fees and expenses,
amounted to approximately HK$59.0 million. The Company intends to
use the net proceeds from the 2023 Share Issuance of (i) approximately
HK$49.0 million for the acquisition of 10% equity interest in Shenzhen
Evolution Equation Technology Company Limited, a company engaged
in the provision of information technology solutions and e-commerce;
and (i) HK$10.0 million for general corporate working capital. For further
details of the 2023 Share Issuance, please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 12 December 2022 and 8 May 2023, and the
circular of the Company dated 17 January 2023.

Set out below is the actual use of the net proceeds up to 31 December
2024:
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Actual use of net

Approximate Actual use Unused total net  proceeds during the
Planned use percentage of net proceeds year ended Unused total net
of total net of total net proceeds up to asat 31 December proceeds up to
proceeds proceeds 31 December 2023 31 December 2023 2024 31 December 2024
EZ-E-CE RZB-=f  HE-E-ME  HECRCMF
ik @&  T-A=t-B  tZR=t-B +tZA=t-B  tZRA=t-H
WEFR REFE  JFRIERE AARREMENE  EEERER LHARRE
e LR EER% e FENETE EHEEE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TEn TARL TEL TEn TEn
Acquisition of 10% registered capital  WEEF AT (77
of Shenzhen Evolution Equation BRBRAA10%
Technology Company Limited Al 49,000 830 49,000 - - -
Working capital EiEES 10,000 17.0 8,241 1,759 1,759 -
Total it 59,000 1000 57,241 1759 1,759 -

The net proceeds from the 2023 Share Issuance have been fully utilised
as at 31 December 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BIRE & wm 0T (48)

2024 Share Issuance

The Company allotted and issued a total of 101,488,000 shares to four
subscribers, under a general mandate on 30 April 2024 (the “2024 Share
Issuance”) and the net proceeds from the 2024 Share Issuance, after
deduction of related fees and expenses, amounted to approximately
HK$16.2 million. The Company intends to apply the net proceeds for
general corporate and working capital purposes. For further details,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 8 April 2024
and 30 April 2024.

Set out below is the actual use of the net proceeds up to 31 December
2024:
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Actual use of net
Approximate  proceeds during  Unused total net

Planned use of net percentage (%) of the year ended 31 proceeds up to 31
proceeds total net proceeds December 2024 December 2024

BZE-E_mE BEEZE-E-_Nf
REFMEFE +-BA=t+-HLE +=A=+-8

FiBRERE RENBL FEERFER HABRLHRS

B Jkes B (%) FEREFE NERE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET THET FET

Working capital LEE® 16,200 100.0 16,200 =

The net proceeds from the 2024 Share Issuance have been fully utilised
as at 31 December 2024.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is committed to establish and ensuring high standards of
corporate governance and adopt sound corporate governance practices.
The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1
to the GEM Listing Rules detailed in this Corporate Governance Report.
The Directors strongly believe that reasonable and sound corporate
governance practices are essential for the growth of the Group and for
safeguarding and enhancing shareholders’ interests.

The Company had non-compliance record of the GEM Listing Rules
requirement during the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Incident”)
and had improved the Group’s internal control system accordingly.
For details in relation to the improvement on the Group’s internal
control system, please refer to the paragraph headed “Internal Control
Deficiencies and Remedial Measures Implemented” on pages 43 to 47 of
this annual report.

On 24 September 2024, the Company announced its failure, due to
inadvertent oversight, to comply with the notification, announcement,
circular and shareholders’ approval requirements in a timely manner in
respect of the advance to an entity and major transaction regarding the
provision of a loan in the amount of RMB100,000,000 by Shenzhen
Xinhang Information Technology Company Limited* CRIIIT &M {Z 2
BHEBBR 2R, a subsidiary of the Company, to an independent third
party in March 2023 (the “Loan”). This constituted non-compliance of
the Company’s disclosure obligations under Rules 17.15, 19.34, 19.38,
19.40 and 19.41 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Loan was repaid in full
on 27 March 2024. For further details of the Loan, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 24 September 2024.

Other than the matter disclosed as above, the Company has complied
with all code provisions under the CG Code throughout the year ended
31 December 2024. The Company will continue to review and monitor
its corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG
Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the Group’s
overall strategies, the setting of management targets and supervision
of management performance. The management is delegated with the
authority and responsibility by the Board for the management and
administration of the Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated
various responsibilities to the Board committees of the Company. Further
details of the Board committees are set out below in this report.

{t\\,ﬁq\Aiﬁﬂ:
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The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting
the success of the Company by the direction and supervision of the
Company’s business and affairs and the ultimate responsibility for
day-to-day management of the Company which is delegated to the
management. To this end, monthly financial and operational information
are provided to the Board for assessing the performance of the Company
and its subsidiaries. For significant matters that are specifically delegated
by the Board, the management must report back to and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company. The management is responsible
for the day-to-day management and operation of the Group and to
provide the Board with updates in a timely manner, giving an assessment
of the Company’s performance and position to enable the Board to
discharge its duties.

The Board is responsible for, among others, performing the corporate
governance duties as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code,
which include:

(@) to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

() to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and

employees; and

(e)  to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the corporate governance report.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, three of whom are
executive Directors and the other four are independent non-executive
Directors. Details of their composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cui Hai Bin (Chairman)

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis (Chief executive officer)
Ms. Zhang Yan Ling

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ji Gui Bao

Ms. Jiang Yu E

Mr. Li Bing

Mr. Chen Zhipeng

The following persons were appointed as Directors of the Company
during the financial year ended 31 December 2024:

1. Mr. Lijun Chen was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director and member of each of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company with effect from 30 April 2024. He resigned from all the
above positions with effect from 6 December 2024;

2. Mr. Chen Zhipeng has been appointed as the independent non-
executive Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee; and

3. Mr. Li Bing has been appointed as the independent non-executive
Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

After obtaining the legal advice referred to in Rule 5.02D of the GEM
Listing Rules, the above Directors confirmed they understood their
obligations as a director of the Company on 30 April 2024 and 6
December 2024 respectively.

The directors have given sufficient time and attention to the Group’s
affairs. All Directors have appropriate professional qualification or
substantive experience and industry knowledge. The Board as a whole
has an appropriate balance of skills and experience. The composition
of the Board satisfies the requirements of Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the
GEM Listing Rules. There are four independent non-executive Directors
and at least one of them has accounting professional qualification. With
more than one-third of the members of the Board are independent
non-executive Directors, the Board has a fairly strong independence
element in terms of its composition.
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The participation of independent non-executive Directors in the Board
brings a diverse range of expertise, skills and independent judgment
on issues relating to the Group’s strategies, performance, conflicts of
interests and management process to ensure that the interests of all
shareholders of the Company have been duly considered.

The details of Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographies
of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 91 to 94 of this annual
report. There are no family or other material relationships among
members of the Board.

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board has established three committees, namely, the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”), on 19 May 2017 with delegated powers
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each of the
committees of the Company has been established with written terms of
reference.

The Board conducts at least four regular meetings a year. The Directors
can attend meetings in person or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Company’s articles of association
(the “Articles”). The chairman of the Board also meets with the
independent non-executive Directors at least once a year without the
presence of the executive Directors. Notices and agendas of regular Board
meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days before convening the
Board meeting. For all other Board and committee meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given. All other schedules and the relevant information
of each Board and committee meeting are generally made available to
Directors or committee members at least three days in advance. The
Board and each Director also have separate and independent access to
the management whenever necessary.
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Corporate Governance Repor (Continued)
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As of 31 December 2024, the Company held eight Board meetings, two
Audit Committee meetings, four Remuneration Committee meetings and
four Nomination Committee meetings. All minutes of the Board meetings
and meetings of Board committees were recorded in sufficient detail the
matters considered by the Board and the decisions reached. Details of the
attendance of Directors are as follows:

1o Ez (#8)

BHE-_ZT-WE+ZA=+—H1 XA
AERT\AEZSSE MAEZREZE
eeZ WAFHNEZEgseRZREOARSA
ZESCeR EFTCCRRREEZEEL
FrEgETir NHESFTEMERSZTEK
ERZREIERHFR LS ESHE
ERFBLAT :

Attendance/Number of meetings

N VA-F LIV
Board
Meeting Audit  Remuneration  Nomination General
(Note1) ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee meeting
gEzged
Name of Directors 3.5 (W)  BhZEE  HMZBE  REZEE eV
Executive Directors: HiTEs:
Mr. Cui Hai Bin (Note 2a) EBER A () 8 NATEE 44 44 1
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis FEELE 8  NATEE  NATEE  NATER 1
Ms. Zhang Yan Ling i 52re 88  NATEE  NATER 44 i
Mr. Ma Lie (Note 2b) SA15%E (Wikb) 1B NAMER  NATER 114 i
Independent Non-executive Directors: BUEHNES:
Mr. Ji Gui Bao REELE 88 0 44 44 11
M. Jiang Yu F ZEfat 78 0 34 34 i
Mr. Li Bing (Note 3) FERE(MR) 08 7 04 04 1
Mr. Chen Zhipeng (Note 3) Rl (i) 08 7 04 04 i
Mr. Chen Lijun (Note 4) R E 5 (W) 418 1n 14 114 1
M. Jiang Peiyan (Note 5) TR A 5 (B3) 18 0 14 14 i
Mr. i Xiao Hua (Note 6) FRERE (o) 08 0 04 04 Wi

Note 1: Include a Board meeting where the chairman met non-executive and independent
non-executive Directors in the absence of the executive Directors and management.

Note 2a: Re-designated from independent non-executive Director to executive Director and

appointed as the chairman of the Board on 16 January 2024.

Note 2b: Resigned on 16 January 2024.

Note 3:  Appointed on 6 December 2024.

Note 4: Appointed on 30 April 2024 and resigned on 6 December 2024.

Note 5: Resigned on 28 June 2024.

Note 6: Retired on 18 June 2024.

M1 BE-REIFAFATEEIRBIUFRTE
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) ©
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The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
attended all the scheduled Board meetings to report matters arising
from corporate governance, risk management, statutory compliance,
accounting and finance.

Practice and Conduct of Meetings

Schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are normally made available
to Directors in advance. At least 14 days’ notice should be given for
a regular Board meeting. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notices are generally given.

Minutes of all Board meetings recording sufficient details of matters
considered and decisions reached are duly kept by the Company
Secretary at the meetings and are open for inspection by the Directors.

The Articles contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from
voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a
material interest.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board
meeting or Audit Committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of
the latest developments and financial position of the Company and to
enable them to make informed decisions.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Articles provide that at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three
(3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation and that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
an annual general meeting at least once every three years.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into an
appointment letter with the Company. The appointment letter of each
of the independent non-executive Directors is for a term of three years,
which may be terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing
served by either party on the other. The aforesaid appointment letters
are subject to termination provisions therein and the retirement and
re-election provisions in the Articles. Details of the appointment letters
are summarised in the Report of the Board of Directors on page 77 of
this annual report.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Directors’ Continuous Training and Professional
Development

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company
recommends Directors participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. Up to
the date of this report, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development by attending training courses or reading
relevant materials on the topics related to corporate governance and
regulations. Records of the training received by the respective Directors
are kept and updated by the Company Secretary.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors are experienced professionals
with expertise in respective areas of accounting, finance, industry
knowledge and expertise. With their professional knowledge and
experience, the independent non-executive Directors serve an important
function of advising the senior management on strategy development
and ensure that the Board maintains high standards in financial and other
mandatory reporting as well as providing adequate checks and balances
for safequarding the interests of the shareholders and the Company as
a whole; and independent non-executive Directors will participate in
the Company’s various committees including the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

The Company has received confirmation from each of the independent
non-executive Directors regarding their independence for the year ended
31 December 2024. The Nomination Committee has reviewed such
confirmations and assessed the independence of each independent non-
executive Director in accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules
and considers each of them to be independent. The Board adopted the
view of the Nomination Committee and accordingly confirmed that all
INEDs are independent.
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Chairman and Executive Directors

The chairman of the Board provides leadership to the Board and is also
responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practice and is responsible for the overall
corporate management of the business development strategies of the
Group. The executive Directors are responsible for the implementation
of the business strategies, policies and objectives set out by the Board
and is accountable to the Board for the overall operations of the Group.
These functions and responsibilities are currently being shared by the
management team.

BOARD COMMITTEE

The Board has established three Board committees, namely, the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”), for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstance, at the Company’s
expense.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 19 May 2017 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The full terms of reference setting out details of the
authority, duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee is available
on both the GEM website and the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee comprises four independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Ji Gui Bao, Ms. Jiang Yu E, Mr. Li Bing and Mr.
Chen Zhipeng. Mr. Ji Gui Bao is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board by
providing an independent view of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, to oversee the audit process, to develop and review the policies
of the Group and to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned
by the Board.
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The Audit Committee is satisfied with the review of the auditors’
remuneration, the independence of the auditor, Zhonghui Anda CPA
Limited (“Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited”), and recommended the Board
to re-appoint Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited as the Company’s auditors
for the financial year ending 31 December 2025, which is subject to the
approval of shareholders at the forthcoming AGM. The Audit Committee
has reviewed the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

According to the current terms of reference, meetings of the Audit
Committee shall be held at least two times a year and the external
auditor may request a meeting if they consider it necessary.

Details of the number of Audit Committee meetings held and Directors’
attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of Meetings and
Directors’ Attendance” on pages 24 to 25 of this annual report.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee in compliance
with Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules, which comprises one
executive Director, namely Mr. Cui Hai Bin, and four independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ji Gui Bao, Ms. Jiang Yu E, Mr.
Li Bing and Mr. Chen Zhipeng. Ms. Jiang Yu E is the chairlady of the
Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but without
limitation): (a) making recommendations to the Directors regarding the
policy and structure for the remuneration of all the Directors and senior
management of the Group and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies; (b) making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management of the Group; (c) reviewing and
approving the management’s remuneration proposals with reference
to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives; and (d) considering and
approving the grant of share options to eligible participants pursuant to
the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the sole shareholder
of the Company on 19 May 2017 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The
full terms of reference setting out details of duties of the Remuneration
Committee is available on both the GEM website and the Company’s
website.

The Remuneration Committee has sufficient resources to perform
its duties properly. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
members of the Remuneration Committee have reviewed the 2024
annual remuneration plan and the 2024 annual remuneration framework
for each Director and key management personnel (including senior
management) of the Group.
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Directors’ remuneration is determined with reference to the
benchmarking of the market. The Remuneration Committee also
looked into individual Director’s competence, duties, responsibilities,
performance and the results of the Group in determining the exact level
of remuneration for each Director.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee,
meeting shall be held at least once a year.

Details of the number of Remuneration Committee meeting held and
Directors’ attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 24 to 25 of this annual
report.

Senior Management’s remuneration

Senior Management’s remuneration payment of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 falls within the following band:

EEFMHSRMEEEMET - FMHZE
BEeTZRESMEARN  BE BT X
BRAKREZXBET S EE 285 M
IR

REFHZEGNRESRE SFEED

BT R -

BOHFMEZECERRBREFEESEN
HBEIEN AN FERF24E25E FTE [ G55
RBNREEHFRR] & -

=R EEE 8 H M

BE_ZT_WF+_A=t—HLEFE"
AEESHRERENFMNEATBER :

Number of
individuals
HK$ BT A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 0% 1,000,000/ 7T 2
Remuneration policy ¥ B BR
The remuneration policy of the Group for the Directors and senior AEBEEN S HEEENHF B K TIR

management was based on their experience, level of responsibility and
general market conditions. Any discretionary bonus and other merit
payments are linked to the performance of the Group and the individual
performance of the Directors and senior management.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises two executive Directors, namely
Mr. Cui Hai Bin and Ms. Zhang Yan Ling, and four independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ji Gui Bao, Ms. Jiang Yu E, Mr.
Li Bing and Mr. Chen Zhipeng. Mr. Cui Hai Bin is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis; identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members; assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive officer.
The full terms of reference setting out details of the authority, duties and
responsibilities of the Nomination Committee is available on both the
GEM website and the Company’s website.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee,
meeting can be called by the member of the Nomination Committee any
time when it is necessary.

Nomination Procedures:

1. The secretary should give the Nomination Committee members
a membership list, listing out the current Board members’ name,
position & duties at the organization.

2. Each year, the Nomination Committee evaluates the current Board
members to assess whether they are performing satisfactorily and
should be considered for re-election. Evaluations may be performed
by a subset of the Nomination Committee or an independent third
party to ensure the fairness.
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Next step is to receive recommendations for new Board members
from management or current Board members. The Nomination
Committee should review the resumes of potential candidates,
assessing their skills and experience to determine if they meet
qualifications for the position. In reviewing candidate profiles, the
committee should also consider various criteria, including:

o Proven leadership
o Previous board experience
o Knowledge and experience

o Diversity — including age, gender, ethnicity, race, disabilities,
geography

o Experience with large and complex organization

o Skillset — including finance, legal, auditing, government
affairs, public relations, community experience, and
knowledge of the organizations

o In case of nomination for independent non-executive
directors, the reasons why the candidate should be
considered to be independent (should refer to relevant GEM
Listing Rules for the factors in assessing independence)

Provide a list of candidates to all the members of the Nomination
Committee for discussion and review.

The Nomination Committee then contacts each candidate to
make an assessment for a high level of personal and professional
integrity, as well as to assess their level of commitment to the
organization, and availability. This is often done by assigning one
member of the Nomination Committee to one candidate, who will
bring a candidate summary with recommendations back to the full
committee. Additional interviews by the Nomination Committee
and the chief executive officer may be necessary to ensure due
diligence interviews may be conducted with the assistance of a
third party.

The Nomination Committee forms a final slate of recommended
candidates to the full board for formal approval. Nominees should
not be present at this meeting to allow for open discussion by the
Board.
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The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the Board diversity policy as well as
discussing matters regarding the retirement and re-election of Directors.

Details of the number of Nomination Committee meeting held and
Directors’ attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 24 to 25 of this annual
report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the
consolidated financial statements

All Directors understand and acknowledge their responsibility for
ensuring that the Group’s consolidated financial statements for each
financial year are prepared to give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs, the financial results and cash flows of the Group in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”) and the
applicable accounting standards. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements as of 31 December 2024, the Board has adopted appropriate
and consistent accounting policies and made prudent, fair and reasonable
judgments and estimates. The Directors are responsible for maintaining
proper accounting records which reflect with reasonable accuracy the
state of affairs, operating results, cash flows and equity movement of
the Group at any time. The Directors confirm that the preparation of
the financial statements of the Group is in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps
to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud
and other irregularities. The statement of auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditor, are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 95 to 100 of this annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by the
auditor to the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 was
approximately as follow:

BN B &

BE-T-mE+-A=+—ALFE.
BT K R R B R E AR
SLESS R

Amount

Type of services PR 7 | A -]
HK$

BT

Audit services Ei AR 750,000
Non-audit services (Review financial report) EIRG (BRI BHE) 0
Total et 750,000

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board
is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions such as
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on corporate
governance, training and continuous professional development of the
directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc.

The Directors review the Group’s corporate governance policies and
compliance with the CG Code each financial year and comply with the
“comply or explain” principle in the corporate governance report which is
or will be included in the annual reports of the Company.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Company has mechanisms in place to ensure independent views
are available to the Board. The Board endeavours for having a balanced
composition of executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors to maintain a strong independent element on the Board and to
bring independent view and inputs from the Directors. The majority of
the members of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees
is independent non-executive Directors and each committee is chaired by
an independent non-executive Director.
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The Nomination Committee shall assess the independence of the
candidates who are to be appointed as independent non-executive
Directors as well as the independent non-executive Directors who are
to be re-elected with reference to the independence guidelines set out
in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules to ensure that they can exercise
independent judgment and fulfil their roles as independent non-executive
Directors.

The independent non-executive Directors shall not have any financial
or family relationships with any other Directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company. Fees
to independent non-executive Directors are in the form of cash payment
with additional fees payable to reflect membership or chairmanship of
the Board Committees. None of the independent non-executive Directors
receives equity-based remuneration with performance-related elements.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging
their duties to the Company.

The Company’s mechanisms in ensuring the availability of independent
views to the Board are kept under regular review (at least on an annual
basis) to ensure their effectiveness. At the Board meeting, the Board
conducted a review and considered that such mechanisms were properly
implemented and were effective.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the chairman of the Board
held a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of the other Directors, in which the independent non-executive
Directors could share their views and raise any issues in the absence of
other Directors and the management.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy in accordance with
the requirement as set out in the CG Code, which is summarised as
below:

The Board diversity policy of the Company specifies that in designing
the composition of the Board, Board diversity shall be considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge.
All Board members’ appointment will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against appropriate criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. Selection of candidates
for the Board will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, culture, ethnicity and educational
background, professional experience, knowledge and skills.

The Company discloses the composition of the Board in the corporate
governance report every year and the Nomination Committee oversees
the implementation of the Board diversity policy. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, three of which are
executive Directors and four of which are independent non-executive
Directors. Two out of these seven Directors are females. The Board
targets to maintain at least the current level of female representation and
this target, along with other matters related to diversity, will be reviewed
on an annual basis by the Board.

The Board has an appropriate mix of skills, experience and diversity that
are relevant to the Company’s strategy governance and business. Mr.
Cui Hai Bin and Ms. Zhang Yan Ling are responsible for the day-to-day
management and strategic development of the Group. Mr. Yeung Ho
Ting Dennis is responsible for planning, organising, coordinating and
implementing visual display solutions of the Group. Mr. Cui Hai Bin is
responsible for the legal and regulatory matters and risk management
of the Group. Mr. Ji Gui Bao and Ms. Jiang Yu E are accounting
professionals with financial management expertise. Mr. Li Bing and Mr.
Chen Zhipeng together with other independent non-executive Directors,
are responsible for providing independent advice to the Board.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 31 December 2018
which sets out the principles and measures on how the Company may
propose a dividend.

The Board will account for the following factors when considering the
payment of dividends:

a.  The general financial condition of the Group;

b.  The actual and future operations and liquidity positions of the
Group;

C. The future cash requirements and availability;

d.  Any restrictions on payments of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group’s lenders;

e.  The general market conditions; and
f. Any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Any declaration and payment of future dividends under the dividend
policy will be subject to the Board’s determination that the same
would be in the best interests of the Group and the shareholders of
the Company as a whole. In addition, the declaration and payment of
dividends may be subject to legal restrictions or any applicable laws, rules
and regulations and the Articles.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
as its own code of conduct (“Code of Conduct”) regarding securities
transactions by the Directors (the “Required Standard”). The Company
has confirmed, having made specific enquiry of the Directors, that all the
Directors have complied with the Code of Conduct throughout the year
ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

The Company has also extended the coverage of the Required Standard
adoption to the senior management of the Company who are likely
to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of the
Company (the “Relevant Employees”). No incident of non-compliance
of the Required Standard by the Relevant Employees was noted by the
Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings or other
general meetings to communicate with the shareholders and encourage
their participation.

The Company will ensure that there are separate resolutions for
separate issues proposed at the general meetings. All resolutions put
forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each
shareholder meeting.

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ communication policy
to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. Information is communicated to the Shareholders mainly
through the Company’s corporate communications (such as interim
and annual reports, announcements and circulars), annual general
meetings and other general meetings, if any, as well as disclosures on the
website of the Company. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its
effectiveness. Having considered the different channels of communication
with the Shareholders and that the shareholders’ communication policy
has been able to facilitate an open and ongoing communication with the
Shareholders on a fair disclosure basis, the Company considered that the
communication policy implemented was effective during the year as it
helps to promote the Company’s business development effectively and
efficiently.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective investor
communication policy and to update investors on relevant information on
the Group’s business in a timely manner, subject to relevant regulatory
requirements.

General Meetings with Shareholders

The Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting will be held on 17
June 2025.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

(a)

(b)

(9]

Convening of an extraordinary general meeting
on requisition by shareholders

Pursuant to the Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall be
convened on the requisition of one or more shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth
of the paid-up capital of the Company having the right of voting
at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to
the Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company. Shareholders also have the right to propose a person for
election as a Director, the procedures are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to put forward proposals relating to
the operations and management of the Group to be discussed
at shareholders’ meetings. The proposals shall be sent to the
Company Secretary by a written requisition. Shareholders who
wish to put forward a proposal should convene an extraordinary
general meeting by following the procedures set out in “Convening
of an extraordinary general meeting on requisition by shareholders”
above.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board to the extent
such information is publicly available to the Company Secretary
who is responsible for forwarding communications relating to
matters within the Board’s purview to the executive Directors,
communications relating to matters within a Board committee’s
area of responsibility to the chairman of the appropriate committee,
and communication relating to ordinary business matters, such as
suggestions, inquiries and consumer complaints, to the appropriate
management of the Company, in writing to the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is a
key to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy of open
and timely disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders and
investment public. The Company updates its shareholders on its latest
business developments and financial performance through its annual,
interim and quarterly reports. The website of the Company (http://
www. intechproductions.com) has provided an effective communication
platform to the public and the shareholders.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engages an external service provider, Ms. Leung Yin Fai, as
its Company Secretary.

Ms. Leung Yin Fai is responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters and ensuring compliance with the Board policy and
procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and regulations. All Directors
have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary to
ensure that the Board procedures and all applicable laws are followed.
Moreover, the Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating
communications among Directors as well as with management.

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis, an executive Director and chief executive
officer of the Company, is the primary contact person whom Ms. Leung
Yin Fai can contact.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company Secretary
has undertaken more than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems
of the Group. The Group’s systems of risk management and internal
control include a defined management structure with limits of authority,
which is designed to help achieve business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance
of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance
with relevant legislation and regulations. The systems are designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure
in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures,
lines of responsibility and delegated authority has been established. The
division/department head of each core operating division/department
is accountable for the conduct and performance of such division/
department within the agreed strategies, which are set by themselves
and the Board together, and reports directly to the Board.

In the course of conducting the business, the Group is exposed to various
types of risks. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the following
principal risks of the Group were identified and classified into strategic
risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks.

Risk Areas Principal Risks
B B SB35 FERK

TRERHRE (B)

AEECREY-EHBRE TTHMEBRN
EERRNERF BERER- S0 E
O/ BEANS W MATERBERS
RERGHRABENHERE  BZOW
MPAMBERRBBE YEENESES

HE o

FREASEESERET  HABRSER
e RBZE-ZT-_WMF+=_A=+—HL
FE AEBEHNEE T EZRR D
AEERR 2ERER - BEEARNLER
B o

Strategic Risks
competition risk, reputation risk
B B

Operational Risks
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Insufficient labour supply; workplace injury; disruption of IT system

Liquidity risk, credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, inflation risk
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Risk related to occupation safety and health; risk of non-compliance with ordinances related to

employment; change of the GEM Listing Rules and relevant company regulations and ordinances
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The Board is ultimately responsible for the risk management of the
Group and it has delegated to executive management to carry out the
risk identification and monitoring procedures. The objectives of the risk
management are to enhance the governance and corporate management
processes as well as to safeguard the Group against unacceptable levels
of risks and losses.
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The ultimate goal of the Group’s risk management process is to
identify and focus on the issues in its business operations that create
impediments to the Group’s success. The risk management process starts
with an annual risk identification and analysis exercise of the major risks
associated with the corporate strategy, goals and objectives. The key
process points in the risk management of the Group include:

o Identify:
° Assess:

o Mitigate:
° Measure:
. Review:

The Group identifies current and emerging
risks in its business operations and categorises
those risks into a reasonable profile based on
timeframe, likelihood, intensity and impact
severity. The Group establishes four risk
categories, including strategic risks, operational
risks, financial risks and compliance risks.

The Group assesses the consequence and
likelihood of risks and prioritises risks so that
the most important risks can be identified
and dealt with. Based on both qualitative and
quantitative analyses, the Group prioritises risks
in terms of likelihood and impact severity.

Based on the assessment of (i) the probability
and impact severity of the risks and (i) cost
and benefit of the mitigation plans, the Group
develops risk management plans for mitigating
such risks and chooses the appropriate option
for dealing with risks, including risk elimination
by suspending the associated business activities,
risk reduction by adopting appropriate
control measures, risk transfer by outsourcing
or purchasing insurance policies, and risk
acceptance by choosing to accept risks of low
priority.

The Group measures its risk management by
determining if changes have been implemented
and if changes are effective. In the event of any
weakness in control, the Group follows up by
adjusting its risk management measures and
reporting material issues to the Directors.

The Group conducts annual review of the
implementation of the risk management plans
and fine tuning of the implementation plan
when necessary.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board, through the
Audit Committee, has conducted review of both the design and
implementation effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, covering all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls, with a view to ensuring
that resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions are adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee
communicates any material issues to the Board.

The Company has hired an internal audit manager to review the Group’s
system of internal controls and risk management annually and further
enhance the Group’s internal control and risk management systems as
appropriate.

Internal Control Deficiencies and Remedial Measures
Implemented

Internal Control Deficiencies

The Board, through the Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s risk
management and internal control system. Key deficiencies in the internal
control systems which led to the Incident has been identified as follows:

(@ Inadequate regulatory oversight: failure to consistently review and
ensure compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, particularly Chapters
17 and 19 of the GEM Listing Rules.

(b) Limited awareness of disclosure requirements: Directors did not
receive sufficient training on notifiable transaction thresholds and
regulatory expectations.

(c)  Absence of structured reporting mechanisms: no formalised process
to escalate potential notifiable transactions to senior management
or the Board for timely action.

(d)  Limited communication and engagement: insufficient collaboration
between the internal control team and subsidiaries, and inadequate
engagement with the legal advisor.
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Remedial Measures Implemented

The Group has taken the Incident seriously. In order to avoid the
recurrence of similar events in the future, the Group has taken the
following remedial measures to ensure that the relevant GEM Listing
Rules are strictly complied with:

(a

The Company issued the announcement dated 24 September 2024
disclosing the details of the Incident in accordance with the GEM
Listing Rules in order to keep all Shareholders informed.

The Group has engaged Hong Kong legal adviser to refine and
customise the existing internal system and also improve the existing
internal policy. These documents have been reviewed and approved
by the Board and circulated within the whole Group including the
subsidiaries outside Hong Kong to unify the internal system.

A 3-hour internal training session has been conducted by the Hong
Kong legal adviser of the Group to explain the relevant GEM Listing
Rules requirements for notifiable transactions and compliance to all
the Directors and senior management of the Group.

The Group has sought assistance from its Hong Kong legal adviser
in providing detailed guidelines relating to notifiable transactions
and advance to entity under the GEM Listing Rules for all the
Directors and senior management of the Group in order to
strengthen and reinforce their existing knowledge relating to
notifiable transactions and advance to entity as well as their ability
to identify potential issues at an early stage.

All material transactions (with amount equivalent to or over HK$3
million) to be conducted by the Group should be first reviewed by
the internal control staff and then be submitted to the Head of
Finance to determine whether any of these transactions constitute
notifiable transaction under the GEM Listing Rules before being
conducted. If such potential transactions may constitute notifiable
transaction under the GEM Listing Rules, the Head of Finance shall
report to the Board immediately for the Board to discuss and seek
advice from relevant legal professionals and if necessary, make
appropriate announcement to the public promptly. The accounting
department shall not process any payment to be made out by
the Group in respect of the above transactions without getting
the confirmations from the internal control staff and the Head of
Finance that such transactions are in compliance with the relevant
GEM Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Repor

The Company will seek advice of external professional advisers from
time to time with respect to the continual compliance with the
GEM Listing Rules prior to entering into any notifiable transactions
or advance to entity.

There will be more frequent communication between the internal
control team, subsidiaries and legal advisor to prevent similar
incidents from happening in the future. The Group will designate
internal control staff to its operating subsidiaries. The internal
control staff shall review the material transactions (with amount
equivalent to or over HK$3 million) to be conducted by the Group
and conduct regular sample-check on the transactions conducted
by the Group. The internal control staff shall make monthly report
to the Head of Finance, who shall also make report to the Directors
for discussion on regular basis. If the Directors consider necessary,
legal advisers will be engaged to advise on the GEM Listing Rules
compliance in respect of particular transactions to be conducted by
the Group.

The Company has also implemented the above measures at the
subsidiary level to ensure prompt reporting of any proposed
transaction(s) or event(s) where the transactions may constitute
notifiable transactions or advance to entity.
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In addition, the Group has implemented the following enhancements to
its internal control procedures with respect to future loans to be provided
by the Group:

(@) When considering whether to issue a loan or provide financial
assistance, the Board is required to act in the best interests of the
Company considering the annual budget, fund plans and financial
impact on the Company.

(b) In particular, before entering into loan agreements, the Head of
Finance of the Company shall be designated to conduct credit
assessments by: (i) reviewing the financial information obtained
from the potential borrower; (ii) reviewing the credit rating of
the potential borrower (where applicable); (iii) conducting public
searches on the potential borrower and assess his/her/its financial
background to assess the loan recoverability; (iv) considering
the value of the to-be-pledge collateral and availability of any
guarantee; (v) considering the financial benefits that the relevant
loan would bring for the Group, such as referral commitments on
the part of the potential borrower; (vi) considering whether any
interest should be levied on the loan to create maximum return for
the Company; and (vii) set-up standard protocol and contingency
plans for the potential loan default.

() To the extent that any future loan contains referral commitments
on the part of the borrower, the Group shall ensure that the
relevant transaction documents shall include a term to the effect
that the Group is entitled to demand repayment in full or in part of
the loan upon the borrower failing to fulfill referral commitments.

(d) The Group shall maintain a list of loans provided to third
parties which clearly set out whether the loans contain referral
commitments on the part of the borrower, and if so, (i) the relevant
key performance indicators; (ii) the fulfilment status of the referral
commitment, in particular, the number of and size of deals referred
to the Group by the borrower; and (iii) the time at which the Group
will be entitled to demand repayment of the loan.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

(e) The Head of Finance shall actively review and monitor the
loan repayment status and the fulfilment status of the referral
commitments (if any) under the supervision of the Board on a
regular basis. If it has come to the attention of the Head of Finance
that there are circumstances giving rise to serious doubt as to the
borrower’s creditworthiness, repayment ability and/or ability to
fulfil the relevant referral commitments in accordance with the loan
agreement, the Head of Finance shall promptly inform the Board
for the Board to assess whether and when to demand repayment
in full of the loan.

The Company has taken active steps to train and educate its staff to
ensure that the internal control policy of the Group is strictly observed. As
at 22 November 2024, the implementation of each of the above remedial
measures has been completed.

Subsequent to the Incident, the Group had put in place enhanced internal
control procedures to improve the Group’s internal control system.
The Board held the view that after implementing the above remedial
measures, the Group has maintained an appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control system to enable the Group to meet
its continuing obligations under the GEM Listing Rules, and that there
were no significant areas of concern on its risk management and internal
control system.

CODE OF CONDUCT AND HANDLING OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group places utmost importance on the ethical, personal and
professional standards of the Directors and employees of the Group. In
addition to the various policies adopted and implemented by the Group
imposing certain conduct requirements on Directors and employees,
every employee is required to undertake to adhere to the Group’s Code
of Conduct, and is expected to achieve the highest standards of behavior
including avoiding conflict of interest, discrimination or harassment
and bribery and corruption. Employees are required to report any non-
compliance with the Code of Conduct to management.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) and the GEM
Listing Rules, the Group has an obligation to disclose any inside
information as soon as reasonably practicable after such information
has come to the knowledge of the Board. The Company has developed
its disclosure policy which provides a general guide to the Company’s
directors, officers, senior management and relevant employees in
handling confidential information, monitoring information disclosure and
responding to enquiries. Control procedures have been implemented to
ensure that unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

In addition, if there occurs any significant risk events, the Group will
report such risk events to the relevant authorities so that appropriate
decisions and measures can be made by the Group in a timely manner to
deal with such risk events.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standards
of conduct and integrity. To this end, the Company encourages
its employees and those who deal with it (e.g. customers and
subcontractors) to report concerns about any malpractice and
impropriety that come to their attention. A whistleblowing policy is in
place to set out reporting channels and guidance on reporting possible
malpractice, impropriety and fraud to the management or the Audit
Committee. The chief executive officer, human resources manager and
the company secretary of the Company are responsible for reviewing
the whistleblowing procedures of the Company and receive regular
updates on relevant matters of concern raised under the whistleblowing
arrangements, together with any management actions taken in response.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the constitutional documents of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2024. The seconded amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association of the Company have
been posted on the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

LOOKING FORWARD

The Group will keep on reviewing its corporate governance standards on
a timely basis and the Board endeavours to take the necessary actions to
ensure compliance with the required practices and standards including
the provisions of the CG Code.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Purpose and Objectives

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report (“ESG
Report”) aims to give the Group’s stakeholders a better understanding of
its visions, strategies and implementation of sustainability initiatives that
are of interest to its various stakeholders.

Reporting Period and Scope

The reporting period for this ESG report is from 1 January 2024 to 31
December 2024, and the scope of this ESG Report covers the businesses
of the Company in Hong Kong, Macau, and the PRC for the reporting
period.

REPORTING BOUNDARY

During the process of identifying the scope of the reporting boundary,
the Group ensures that the report reflects their ESG impact and
performance.

Reporting Standard

The ESG Report was prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social, and Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) as set out in
Appendix C2 of the GEM Listing Rules with contents that comply with
the “mandatory disclosure requirements” and the “Comply or explain”
provisions in the Guide.

Reporting Principles

The ESG Report is prepared and presented based on the following
reporting principles:

o Materiality: Key ESG issues of the Group were identified through
materiality assessment and stakeholder engagement, which has
been disclosed in the ESG Report.

° Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and/or calculation tools used, and source of conversion
factors used, for the reporting of emissions/energy consumption
(where applicable) has been disclosed in the ESG Report.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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o Balanced: The ESG Report has provided an unbiased picture of the
Group’s performance and has not avoided any selections, omissions
or presentation formats that may inappropriately influence a
decision or judgment by the readers.

o Consistency: The ESG Report should present information on a
consistent basis that stakeholders can analyze and evaluate changes
in performance over time. The Group will disclose if there are any
changes to the methods or KPIs used, or any other relevant factors
affecting a meaning comparison in its subsequent report.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Board’s oversight of ESG issues

The Board has a primary role in overseeing the Group’s ESG issues.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board and the
management evaluated the impacts of ESG-related risks towards the
operation and formulated ESG-related policies in dealing with relevant
risks. The oversight of the Board ensures that the management can have
all the right tools and resources to oversee the ESG issues.

To demonstrate the Group’s commitment to transparency and
accountability, the management reviews and evaluates the Group’s
performance in respect of ESG issues and reports to the Board regularly.

The Board has delegated the chairman (the “Management Representative”
r “MR”) and his operation managers (collectively, the “Management
Team”) with the responsibility to formulate and implement policies and
measures related to ESG matters. All departments report at least on an
annual basis directly to the Management Representative, who ensures
the implementation of the Board’s approved strategies and policies and
addresses all environmental and social issues detailed in the Guide.

Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd Annual Report 2024

« FECRE HEREARETRF
BHEEAEEORE ADRST
B8 1A O 0 T B R 5 M
ERE ERAZHME -

s BN RE HEREAREER
—BMEEZIER  UBEOHED
RFHERREEHENEL - NEE
RREBENREPREMRANT
EHARERERATEFLEER
HENEMEBEBEEREEEM

EEERE HERERRE

EEEBEASEMNERE &
ERmBE -HE_ZT_NF+=A
=T —HALEE ESghERETGR
R -HegkEBRHiERREEENTE

WHFERE g REAHEBEKINES
HERR EESRIBRRATERERME
FMEBYMNITAERERANEERE L€

2
&E@/é'ﬁ% ©

g
Jil3)

5 H
e
m

BREAAEEHERE LB E G &GS
Eﬁ"%ﬁ&a¥1§¢ilﬁ’\f&iﬁ Zia&
ERmETEMNRKRIR  WEHREFEHRE -

EFeCBERIFR(ERBRRD REZ
BRE(EIEEEEK) AEHFTLE
MERRE HEREREEMBOHRE-
EMMELBFERRAEEBRRSRE
HMERBRRBERATESET L ENRE
KRS YREE SRR ey A R E

A -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

BRI - g RERAWME

ESG management approach and strategy for material
ESG-related issues

To better understand the opinions and expectations of different
stakeholders on the ESG issues, materiality assessment is conducted
annually. The Group ensures various platforms and channels of
communication are used to reach, listen and respond to its key
stakeholders. Through communication with the stakeholders, the Group
is able to understand their expectations and concerns. The feedbacks
obtained allow the Group to make more informed decisions, and to
better assess and manage the impacts of the business decisions.

The Group has evaluated the materiality for each of the ESG aspects
through the following steps: (i) identification of ESG issues by the Group;
(i) key ESG areas prioritisation with stakeholder engagement; and (iii)
validation and determining material ESG issues based on the results of
communication with the stakeholders.

Taking these steps enhances the understanding of the expectations and
concerns of the Group’s stakeholders on various ESG issues, which enable
the Board to plan the sustainable development direction to address
material ESG-related issues in the future.

Progress review made against ESG-related goals and
targets

The Group will closely review from time to time the performance and
implementation progress of the goals and targets. If the progress falls
short of expectation or if there are changes in business operations, it
may be necessary to make changes and communicate about the goals
and targets with key stakeholders such as employees, customers and
suppliers.

The Group’s ESG philosophy is to create long-term value for its
stakeholders in alignment with the strategic development and
sustainability of its business. The Board has set strategic goals to enable
the Group to develop a realistic path and focus on the development
direction for achieving its vision. The Board will carefully examine the
attainability of the targets which should be weighted against the Group’s
philosophy and goals.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

5 A ERERERE ()

Throughout the 2024 Reporting Period, the Group maintained the same
ESG management structure and process as the last reporting period
(from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023, “2023” or “2023 Reporting
Period”). The 2023 Reporting Period is used as the baseline year for the
ESG Report in the 2024 Reporting Period. The baseline year for 2023
was selected as it reflects the most recent reporting period in which the
Group’s ESG management structure and processes remained consistent
with the current framework ensuring comparability and continuity in
tracking performance improvements.

Approval

To the best of knowledge, belief and information of the Board, the ESG
Report addresses all relevant material issues and fairly presents the ESG
performance of the Group. The Board confirms that it has reviewed and
approved the Report.

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group strives to maintain supporting and trusting relationships
with its stakeholders. Through diversified communication channels, the
Group can effectively understand and respond to the expectations and
requirements of different stakeholders. The following table summarises
the main expectations and concerns of our key stakeholders and the
corresponding management responses.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Stakeholders
HHE

Expectations and Requirements
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE g MEA®RE (B)

B. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group attaches great importance to environmental protection and
also implements sustainable initiatives in areas such as energy saving,
water saving, waste management, air quality management into its daily
operations so as to minimize the use of resources and reduce various
emissions. The Group complied with applicable laws and regulations,
including the Environmental Protection Law of PRC and Guideline on the
Applicability of the Noise Control Ordinance in Hong Kong.

I. Emissions

Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste

The Group is principally engaged in providing visual display
solution information technology consulting services and hotel
reservation and conventional planning services, we consume limited
natural resources to operate and therefore have a relatively low
environmental impact, furthermore, the Group does not produce
a significant volume of hazardous waste from the daily business
process. The major wastes are solid non-hazardous wastes such as
office paper generated from the Group’s operations.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group implemented a number of measures to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions in order to alleviate the impacts to the
environment. The Group also encourages employees to maximize
the use of electronic communication and carry out general
discussions and communication through long-distance telephone
calls or other online communication tools in order to reduce
non-essential business trips and avoid increasing the pollutants
emitted by the use of transportation.

The major sources of air and greenhouse gas (GHG) emission
that the Group associated are energy consumptions in regard to
the purchased electricity used in the Group’s offices and daily
operation.

The total GHG generated by the Group during the reported period
ended 31 December 2024 were 79,435 Kg CO,-eq, comprising
direct emission from motor vehicle gasoline, indirect emission from
purchased electricity and other indirect emission from fresh water
usage.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE g MERWmE (8)

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with the
Waste Disposal Ordinance, Product Eco-responsibility Ordinance
and other applicable laws and regulations that have a significant
impact relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharging
into water and land, generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024.

In addition, no significant fine or non-monetary sanction for
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations has been
reported in the year ended 31 December 2024.

Use of Resource

The Group is committed to conserving resources for the purposes
of protecting the environment and enhancing operation efficiency.
To pursue the Group’s commitment of environmental protection,
the Group has implemented multiple measures in enhancing energy
efficiency, minimizing the use of paper, reducing water and energy
consumption and driving behavioural changes of employees.
Through active monitoring and managing the use of resources, the
Group aims to reduce the Group’s operating costs as well as our
carbon footprint.

The following procedures and operation guideline were designed
to conserve resources:

Energy

o Room lights and air conditioners must be switched off when
they are not in use.

° Use of natural light is maximized as far as practical.

o Use separate light switches for different light zones.

o Air-conditioner filter and fan coil are cleaned regularly.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE - w@ MEAHRE (B)

Water
o Water taps are constantly checked to avoid the water
dipping.

3 Leakage tests on concealing piping and checking for
overflowing tanks are regularly carried out.

Other Office Consumable
° Stationeries are distributed on a needed basis and reusable

stationeries are employed.

° Other than formal documents, paperless working
environment is promoted in the Group.

o Recycled papers are encouraged to be used whenever
possible when photocopy for internal documentation.

° Used ink cartridges are either recycled through public recycle
bin or collected by suppliers.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE g NEARWmE (B

Environmental Performance Indicator

In accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide set out by the Stock
Exchange, the data of the “Emission” and “Use of Resource” of the
Group during the reporting period is as follows.

. RBEEREE

REBMXFMAERE HERER
Fi85l  AEBERRERE [ HExY ]
RIERERIEENT -

Emission B
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
Energy use and emission BEJREARHEM  Units 2024 2023
BZE HE
—EMEF =
+t=ZA=+-HB +ZA=+—H
B LHEE IEFE
Electricity BN kWh 82,277 77,478
TR
Intensity of energy BIREE kWh/employee 735 630
TERETEE
Motor Vehicle Gasoline YRER ) L 9,952 7,706
ﬂ_
Intensity of energy BEREE L/employee 89 63
EE
GHG mERE Kg CO,-eq
FTRr= %{b xE 8
Scope 1 & EN Kg CO,-eq 23,486 18,186
Fr-_SEREE
Scope 2 & [E2 Kg CO,-eq 55,949 52,685
Trm= %ﬂcﬁ EE
Total GHG BEAReE Kg CO,-eq 79,435 70,871
Fr-SRER
Intensity of GHG BRERBEE Kg CO,-eq/employee 709 576

FTrR-_GHES EE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
BIE e R EAHE (F)

V.

Use of Resource EIRE A
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
Resource use ERERA Units 2024 2023
BZE HE
—EEME —E=F
+=A=+—-8B +=-—A=+—H
B IEEE EFE
Water 7K m3 685 739
SR
Intensity of water consumption ~ FI/KZE m3/employee 6.12 6.01
MNHEKEE
The Environmental and Natural Resources RERRXRER

The nature of the Group’s business does not involve in any
significant impacts on the environmental and natural resources. The
relevant principles and policies on managing emission and use of
resources are already disclosed above.

Climate Change

Awareness over climate change continues to grow and is one of
the most discussed topics among companies. The Group is no
exception, having increasing concerns over the potential impact
from climate change on the Group’s business and operation. The
Group regularly reviews global and local government policies,
regulatory updates and market trends to identify potential
climate-related risks which may have an impact on the Group’s
business operation.

In accordance with the reporting framework developed by the Task
Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, there are two major
categories of climate-related risks, physical and transition risks. The
Group will develop a response plan such as changing the business
strategy and modifying the development plan in order to reduce
the negative impacts of such climate-related risks.

The Group will continuously incorporate sustainable practices in its
business operations and prepare and maintain sufficient resources
for managing identified climate-related risks and studying the
potential remediation measures.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no
climate-related risk, including physical and transitional risks, which
had significant impact on the Group.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
IRIE - L2 NEIRRE (B)

SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practice

The Group recognizes that the Group’s success and market
leadership are closely linked to the support from our dedicated,
hard-working and task-oriented employees. The Group recognizes
that employees are the Group’s most valuable assets and vital to
achieving the Group’s sustainability and long-term growth.

The Group strictly abide by all applicable laws and regulations in
locations where it operates, including but not limited to the “Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Labour
Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Law on Protection of
Minors of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Law of Prevention
and Control of Occupational Diseases of the People’s Republic of
China” and Employment Ordinance (Cap 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). We forbade all kinds of non-compliance employment,
forced labour and child labour. During the reporting period, the
Group was not aware of any material non-compliance concerning
employment-related laws and regulations in all area of operation.

The Group is also committed to safeguarding the legitimate rights
and interests of employees, maintaining their physical and mental
health and providing various benefit, in addition to providing vast
opportunities of career development for every employee, striving to
match employee’s personal and business development goals of the
Group through a comprehensive training system, effective incentive
mechanism and fair competition platform, so that the mutual
benefits for employees and the enterprise can be achieved.
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Employment Practice

The Group is committed to build a harmonious working atmosphere
for employees through encouraging mutual respect which
ultimately promotes work creativity, flexibility and commitment.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 112 (31 December 2023:
123) employees. In order to cope with the continuously growing
of business scale, the Group acquires talents from different
aspects and backgrounds to join the Group’s globalized team. The
Group strictly complies with the relevant laws and regulations in
the Group’s employment process, such as recruitment, dismissal,
promotion and setting up of remuneration packages of employees
regardless of where the Group operates. The legitimate rights and
interests of employees are protected in accordance with laws and
regulations.

Employment

° The Group attaches great importance to the basic rights and
interests of the employees, the entering into of employment
contracts with all employees, and the provision of relevant
social insurances and employee’s compensation insurance and
medical insurance to all employees.

° The Group is an equal opportunities employer, committed
to eliminating sex, age, race, disability and religious
discrimination in employment and emphasizing on the
performance and experience of the staffs in promotion
or recruitment. A fair and structural staff performance
assessment is set for making promotion and salary increment
decisions. Staff appraisal will be conducted annually to assess
work performance.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare noted in the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE g MERWmE (8)

The following table sets out the workforce by gender, employment
type, age group and geographical region and as at 31 December
2024 and the employee turnover rate by gender, employment
type, age group and geographical region for the year ended 31
December 2024:

TREJIR-E-MFEF+_A=+—
BRIER - BEER - FERAH Rt
BERBIASNEHNUARBE_F
“ME+-A=t—HLEFERER -
EBREER  FhedEn iR HE S
BEERMAE

Employee
Workforce turnover Gender ratio
Headcount rate% (Male:Female)
14 31| EE 41
BEOBAY BERRE% (8 : %)
Gender 15
Male S 103 8.4 N/A A5 A
Female W 9 0 N/A 3 A
Employment type EfEER
Senior level staff AR E 6 40.0 5:1
Administrative staff THEES 8 20.0 6:2
Operation staff ZEREE 98 10.2 92:6
Age group FHR#aE R
30 and below 30 SR A TR 46 6.5 N/A A3 A
31-40 3175%—~405% 35 8.6 N/A A3 A
41-50 415%-508% 22 7.7 N/A A3 A
Above 50 508% A £ 9 11.1 N/A A~ 3 A
Geographical region b 32 [ 1,
Hong Kong BB 24 0 N/A N3 A
PRC F 73 85 N/A 3 A
Macau JEPS 15 133 N/A 73 A
Health and Safety REHL

The Group is dedicated to providing a healthy and safe
workplace to its employees. The promotion of occupational
and health measures at workplace are regarded as essential
to our businesses and operations of the Group. The Group
committed to undertaking various occupational health and
safety measures to relevant laws and regulations, including
but not limited to the Law of People’s Republic of China on
the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases and
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap 509 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). Appropriate occupational and health
manuals relevant to the Group’s businesses are adopted by
the core business units. Risk assessments of workstations are
conducted constantly to identify and assess the risks to the
safety and health of the employees, and to decide whether
existing measures are adequate.

s AEEBNAHESRHE (AR
BRLZ2HTESHT - R ITIESAT
HEERERRERAARNERE
BREENETIRE - KEEK
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o First aid kits are located at convenient locations and
are properly maintained in the office, workshop(s) and
warehouse(s).

3 Workplace safety posters were display at prominent location
in the warehouse(s) of the Group to remind the staff of
safety.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards noted for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The following table sets out the number and rate of work-related
fatalities of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024:

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
BIE e R EAHE (F)

e RPARE HEAFKEELEANS
M BEWRE WG  WHSHEE -

e MNAKRBEREMBRUERMT
ESMEEER REIEAR
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BE_F_WE+-_A=t—HL#HF
B BMEERABREAZETHERE
ERrERERERZIBMERLETNMERER
KB,

TREWHEZE-_ZFT_WF+ = A
T+ BHULEFEAEERITEBEM

TR ABR R LR
Headcount Rate
A L=

Work-related fatalities A TEEEMmILT

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has not incurred
any lost days due to work injury of its employees.

Development and Training

o The Group believes that training is an important path to
improve the overall work quality and offer comprehensive
development to the employees. The Group encourages our
employees to attend external or internal training courses to
enhance their competence and job-related knowledge.

o Experienced/Senior employees will provide supervision to the
newcomers/subordinates in order to enhance communication
and team spirits within the Group, and to improve their
technical skills and managerial capability.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
IRIE - L2 NEIRRE (B)

The following table sets out the percentage of employees trained
by gender and employment type and the average training hours
completed per employee by gender and employment type of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024:

TR AEBHEE -_ZT _NFE+ =
A=+ —HIEFERER &EREEH

EomXIEEB D L RIRER RE

et L s Lk
Sl

Percentage of Average training hours
employees trained  completed per employee

BEEETRZ M

ZIfEEBAL IR B
% Hour
Bl B8
Gender ezl
Male Bt 18 10.7
Female gy 1 4.0
Employment type IR
Administrative staff THESR 0
Operation staff 2ERE 19 10.3
Labour Standard ZTEA

The Group respects human rights and has a zero-tolerance
policy towards the employment of forced labour and child
labour. Upon joining the Group, each staff is required to fill
in a recruitment form. Should the staff provide false identity
or false personal particulars, he/she would be considered
to have committed serious breach of the Group’s rules and
regulations and his/her employment would be terminated
immediately.

REEEE AR HER R S
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RE -2 MERWmE (E)

The Group is also against any form of child or forced labour.
Every employee is subject to a stringent internal review process
that involves a well-established procedure to verify an applicant’s
personal information, in order to avoid misrepresentation and
involvement in any form of child labour. For instance, the human
resources department will verify the actual age of the applicants
by checking the identification documents during the recruitment
process to ensure that the age of the applicants fulfils the
requirements as stipulated by the applicable laws and regulations,
and all underaged applicants will be excluded from employment
consideration in the application screening process. Under the
whistleblowing, anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy, employees
are provided with reporting channels and guidance on reporting
possible malpractice, impropriety, bribery and fraud to the direct
supervisor, team leader or senior management. For any discovered
or reported cases regarding forced or child labour, the Group
will immediately: (a) investigate the case and take further follow-
up actions if necessary; (b) provide all necessary assistance and
support to persons affected; (c) terminate the employment with the
employee concerned; and (d) implement timely corrective actions
to prevent recurrence, including enhanced review process and
provision of additional training for relevant personnel.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to preventing child and forced labour noted in the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Operating Practice

Supply Chain Management

o The goods from the suppliers must be checked by the
Group’s qualified engineer for product quality and safety and
will be stored in our warehouse.

o All parts suppliers of our electronic equipment must comply
with national or international safety standard.

o If the suppliers fail to maintain the safety standard of their
products, the Group will eliminate the aforesaid supplier from

the approved supplier list.

o Annual supplier evaluation will be conduct by management.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
IRIE - L2 NEIRRE (B)

The main considerations when deciding between suppliers are
quality, fair pricing and low environmental and social risks by
assessing information from the supplier(s) or manufacturer(s) (if
available). The Group conducts initial supplier screening covering
environmental management, labour practices, and regulatory
compliance to identify environmental and social risks along the
supply chain.

The Group has the following policies in place to manage
environmental and social risks in our supply chain: (a) environmental
preference: prioritising environmentally friendly products in all
purchasing decisions; (b) ethical sourcing: maintaining a zero-
tolerance policy for child or forced labour in our supply chain
and prioritising suppliers who demonstrate their commitment to
responsible ethical conduct in the selection process; and (c) local
community support: giving preference to local suppliers where
feasible.

Product Responsibility

o The Group poses a fair marketing concept that commits
not making dishonest allegation of our competitors in order
to mislead the customers during their decision-making.
Moreover, the Group would not acquire confidential
information of a competitor via espionage, the subordination
of the competitor’s employees or through any other improper
means.

o The Group has committed to supply the goods and services
that meet the reasonable expectations of our customers.
We provide customers with effective mechanism to lodge
complaints and manage such complaints with due care.
Besides, the Group respects the confidentiality of our
customers and their commercial information. We do not
disclose such information to protect their privacy.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to health, safety, advertising, bid-rigging and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided and methods of
redress noted in the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
BIE e R EAHE (F)

Privacy Protection

The Group strictly complied with The Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Cap 486 of Laws of Hong Kong)

The Group committed to upholding intellectual property
rights. All employees were educated and expected to protect
intellectual property rights and avoid any infringement.

Anti-corruption

The Group strictly complied with applicable laws and
regulations against corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering, including but not limited to the Laws
of Anti Competition of the People’s Republic of China,
the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China and
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The Group refuses bribery, corruption, extortion and money
laundering activities. Employees shall report any misconduct
to its manager. A whistle-blowing email has been setup for
reporting such incidents and senior management will be
responsible for investigation if deem necessary.

The Group is listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange and
has strict guidelines for directors and senior management
for any disclosure of conflict of interest. Besides, directors
or senior management are required to take certain hours of
training each year.

There was no non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
against bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering noted in the
year ended 31 December 2024.

COMMUNITY

Community Investment

Social responsibility is one of the Group’s cultures. We are
committed to striving for the betterment of society and hold
strongly the belief that a business organization should not
detach itself from its social responsibility.

The Group encourage its employee to participate in volunteer
activities in order to give back to the society and people in
need.
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Index to the ESG Reporting Guide

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
IR 2 NERWmE

(%)

(BRE - HERERARSEIDARR

E]
Area: Environmental #lE - RE
Disclosure Indicator Section
REES 1:]
A1: Emissions General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant — Emission
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water
and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
Al BB —REE BRERRRERBEN MKkRktuns FEREZEE AW
MNELEEN  QERE ROETHETAREAZENADE
BRBRIGEH -
A1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emission
A1.1 P mE R R R EE - B
A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,  Environmental
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Performance
Indicator
A1.2 BERBEHENE CEE) R (NER)BE (WUBESEN - REEER
BERETE) -
A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tons) and where appropriate, ~ Emission
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
A13 FELAERENAE UMHE) R (NER) BE (WAGEE  #HY
B - BERMHE)
Al4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tons) and, where  Emission
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
Al4 FELEZBEZNAE CEE) R (MER)BE (MASEE  HEY
1i tIEDXmED 71-) S
A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved. Emission
A1.5 IR E BRI R PTERR o 7358
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are  Emission
handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved.
A1.6 HRRBRERETERNNNE  REELENEERAGEKR .  HHY
BRERMEEERAGERLIT —Z_NFFR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE -2 kE

)

Section

BE

A2: Use of Resources

A2 B

A3: Environmental and

Natural Resources

A3 REBRRAER

General Disclosure

—REE

A2.1

A2.1

A22

A2.2

A23
A23

A2.4

A2.4

A2.5

A2.5

General Disclosure

—KBE

A3.1

A3.1

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials.

BRERER (BERR  KREMRIE) HBE

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity,
gas or oil) in total (kWh) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

RERESNERR/JEEER (T - f30h) B2 (TRE)
REE (WMABEEBN  §AERETE) -

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

BRKERTE (WNGEEEN  BEREHE)

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

LR E B B R R o

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit
for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

ot SREGE R KOR E R AR RE - AR AR o 8 R P
"BRR -

Total packaging materials used for finished products (in tons) and,
where appropriate, with reference to per unit produced.
HRRAABEMHNEE (UM E) R (ER) BEEENS

=
B °

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

REBETAHRERAREREREATEHOHR

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

RUEHEDEBER AN A RN EAVERE ROERARY
BH78 -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Disclosure Indicator

KEER

Section

BE

A4: Climate Change

General Disclosure

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

Climate change

Al RIREIE —REE BAREHESRAIREHBITAELYENEARRERZE REEL

BB °

A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have  Climate change
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions
taken to manage them.

A4.1 RREERIHEHETAELYENEARGHERZE RE REE(L
#1789 -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE -2 kE

BlE &

Section

B

Employment and Labour Standard

ERRSIEA

B1: Employment

B2: Health and Safety

B2 : fEf

‘EE*
pais
H

General Disclosure

—REE

General Disclosure

—REE

B2.1

B2.1

B2.2
B2.2

B23

B23

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

ERTEMERE BEREA IERE RE TSHe.
Zift RIEGEAREMEERENORE  RETHETA
RERTENRBEERAPINER -

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and
geographical region.

iR ERER  FREMNUREDHES R -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical
region.

B3 FRARRBEES HEBRALE -

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.

ﬁ%ﬁfﬁ%lﬁk%&f@@Eﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ%%ﬁ%’&
ETHETABEAZENRBEZRAPINER -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities.

AITHMABRLE -

Lost days due to work injury.

RAIGELXI(EHE -

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted,
how they are implemented and monitored.

A RMBRREREL 25 - URBHERTRERTA
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Disclosure Indicator
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Section

B

B3: Development and
Training

B3 : R LI

B4: Labour Standard

B4 : & T %A

Operation Practice

2EE

B5: Supply Chain
Management

B5: fHEEER

General Disclosure

—REE

B3.1

B3.1

B3.2

B3.2

General Disclosure

—RBE

B4.1

B4.1

B4.2

B4.2

General Disclosure

—REE

B5.1

B5.1

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
BHRMTESBTILIERE NN REAENIE  HdHIE
&) o

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
BUFIRESERN (NSRERE TREEES) ASNZI
EERADL

The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category.

BRI EEERED  BREEEKZ IO FHREHY -

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
RBRMEETSRESTIMN  @QEE: ROETEHET
AT ENRBERRADINEH -

ABE

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid
child and forced labour.

e REEANEEAERETREH ST

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.
HRAEERERERRERABEAMEROSR o

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
chain.

ERARENRE M ERBRIR -
Number of suppliers by geographical region.

RipEE N HERRE o

REMREEROBERAT

Development and
Training

BRI

Development and
Training
EEYEE]

Development and
Training

BRI

Labour Standard

SRR

Labour Standard
B TR
Labour Standard

BTk

Supply Chain
Management

HEEER
Supply Chain

Management

fregER

“ECNFER

71



72

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
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Disclosure Indicator

KEER

/\—/\— \

admE ()

Section

B

B6: Product Responsibility

B6: E

ED

fﬂw

Aff

B5.2

B5.2

General Disclosure

—RBE

B6.1

B6.1

B6.2

B6.2

B6.3

B6.3

B6.4
B6.4

B6.5

B6.5

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how they
are implemented and monitored.

i AAEREREERNEN  RERTABEMNNHEERHE -
AREBEHINHMTRERAE

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided and methods
of redress.

FRMRUERNRBNEREZS BS RERLEBEE
URBRATENEE  RETHBETABEAYENAELE
RAGINER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for
safety and health reasons.
BEEFEEREMBATRL 2 ERFIEMMACRNB AL
Number of products and service-related complaints received and
how they are dealt with.

EEBARERLEREORFHEAREL A -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.

Mt RgERRENBEEGBNED -
Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.
Mg 8ipE B REmDYE -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how
they are implemented and monitored.
WA BEERRERILBEE  URAARTREERE -
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Disclosure Indicator

KEER

BRI - g RERAWME
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Section

B

B7: Anti-corruption

General Disclosure

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Anti-corruption

B7: REA —REE RBHLER B% RERERENQEE  ROETHE RES
TAREAT ENEBERIRTINEH -
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices  Anti-corruption
brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting
period and the outcomes of the cases.
B7.1 REGHNERTARHLEERITEERLENESFARESN RES
L EPNEEN P
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing  Anti-corruption
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.
B7.2 b EE RS UREERTRERF - R&)S
Community
"HE
B8: Community investment  General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of ~ Community
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities
take into consideration the communities’ interests.
B8 : {EIRE —REE ARUHE2ERTRETACENELERENRAREEE HE
EHEERMEMRNHE
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental ~ Community
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
BS.1 EIERER (B RREFH 4IF% BR Xt B HE
B
B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community
BS.2 EZIERMHAER(WEEABME) - e
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Report of the Board of Directors

EEEHG

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in (1) the provision of visual display solution services for
concerts and events in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC, (2) the provision
of information technology consulting services in the PRC and (3) the
provision of hotel reservation and convention planning services in the
PRC (the“Business”). The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out
in note 40 to the audited consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 and the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out
in the audited consolidated financial statements on pages 101 to 107 of
this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2024.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 188 of this
annual report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND FUTURE PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL
ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Significant Investments, Material
Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries”, during the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group did not have any significant investments.

The Group has no specific future plans for material investments or capital
assets during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of
this report.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in notes 18 and 20
to the audited consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group at 31 December 2024 are
set out in note 29 to the audited consolidated financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year ended 31
December 2024.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 32 to the audited
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and note 33 to the audited consolidated
financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the reserves of the Company available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to HK$177,696,843. Under
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of
the Company may be applied for paying distributions or dividends to
shareholders subject to the provisions of the Company’s articles of
association and provided that immediately following the payment of
distributions or dividends, the Company shall be able to pay its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Company did not redeem its listed securities, nor did the Company
or any of its subsidiaries purchase, cancel or sell any of such listed
securities for the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024
and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cui Hai Bin
(Chairman, re-designated from independent
non-executive director to executive director on 16 January 2024)
Mr. Ma Lie
(resigned on 16 January 2024)
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis
(Chief executive officer)
Ms. Zhang Yan Ling

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ji Gui Bao
Ms. Jiang Yu E
Mr. Li Bing
(appointed on 6 December 2024)
Mr. Chen Zhipeng
(appointed on 6 December 2024)
Mr. Chen Lijun
(appointed on 30 April 2024 and
resigned on 6 December 2024)
Mr. Jiang Peiyan
(resigned on 28 June 2024)
Mr. Li Xiao Hua
(retired on 18 June 2024)

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the Articles, at each annual general meeting,
at least one-third of the Directors shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received the written independence confirmation
from all four independent non-executive Directors, and considers such
independent non-executive Directors who have provided the written
confirmation to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS
OF APPOINTMENT

(a) Executive Directors

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years, which may be terminated
by not less than one month’s notice served by either party on the
other. The term of service of a Director is subject to retirement by
rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.

(b) Independent non-executive Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years, which
may be terminated by not less than one month’s notice served
by either party on the other. The term of service of a Director is
subject to the provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as
set out in the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed to have
a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries (other than
contracts expiring or determinable by the Company or its subsidiaries, as
applicable within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation).
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

The emolument of the Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee by reference to the benchmarking of the market. The
Company also looks into individual Director’s competence, duties,
responsibilities and performance.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals of the Group are set out in note 14 to the audited
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 91 to 94 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors or an entity
connected with any of them had any material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
in relation to the business of the Group to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries, parent company or subsidiaries of the parent company
was a party and subsisting at any time during or at the end of the year
ended 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, no contract of significance had been entered

into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholders of the Company or any of their subsidiaries.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

DIRECTOR’S RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year ended
31 December 2024 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or any of
its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
or chief executive of the Company (including their spouses or children
under 18 years of age) to have any right to subscribe for securities of
the Company or any of its specified undertakings as defined in the
Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation or to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not enter into or have any
management and/or administration contracts in respect of the whole or
any principal business of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Directors are not aware of any business and interest of
the Directors nor the controlling shareholders of the Company nor any of
their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) that
compete or may compete with the business of the Group and any other
conflict of interests which any such person has or may have with the
Group from the listing date to the date of this annual report.
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DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

(a)

Interests and short positions of Directors and chief
executive in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions
of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by
directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, were
as follows:
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(i) Interests in the Company (i) AQrBEER
Number of
Shares Percentage of
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest (Note 1)  shareholding
R A
BEEHRH B EmtE (HtaE1) BERBESL
Ms. Jiang Yu E Beneficial Owner 2,994,000 (L) 0.33%
EEN e BB A
Mr. Cui Hai Bin Beneficial Owner 1,000,000 (L) 0.1%
EBELE ERBAEA
Ms. Zhang Yan Ling Beneficial Owner 1,988,000 (L) 0.22%
RIS+ EmfEBA
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis Beneficial Owner 36,000,000 (L) 3.94%
R A EmEBA
Notes: =S

1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares.
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(b)

Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Save as disclosed above and so far as is known to the Directors, as
at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or as recorded in the
register of the Company required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Interests and short positions of the substantial
shareholders and other persons in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2024, so far as it is known to the Directors, the
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had interests or short positions in shares or underlying
shares of the Company which were recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:

(b)

EFgHE (8)
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Number of
Shares held/
Interested Percentage of

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest (Note 1) shareholding
BE B8
E=H
B8 E
BRERE B EEng (BfF=E1) ERES T
ST MA LTD (Note 2) Beneficial owner 250,611,894 (L) 27.40%
ST MA LTD (K 7%2) EmEB A
Mr. Ma Lie Interest in a controlled corporation 250,611,894 (L) 27.40%
BRI & A E R
Yuanyu Enterprise Management Beneficial owner 80,100,000 (L) 8.76%
Co., Limited (Note 3)
TFEXEERRAR (M3 EmBEEA
Mr. Zhou Hongyu Interest in a controlled corporation 80,100,000 (L) 8.76%
BtFEE A E
BRERFEERNMERAT —ZT_NFEFR
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%
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Notes:
1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares.

2. ST MA LTD is wholly owned by Mr. Ma Lie, an executive Director up to 16
January 2024 and a controlling shareholder of the Company.

3. Yuanyu Enterprise Management Co., Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Zhou
Hongyu.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors
were not aware of any interests or short positions owned by any
entities or persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of
the Company) in the Shares or underlying shares of the Company,
which were required to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO or which were required to be recorded in the
register of the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The then sole shareholder of the Company conditionally adopted the
Share Option Scheme on 19 May 2017. A summary of the principal terms
of the Share Option Scheme is set out as follows:

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme prepared
in accordance with Chapter 23 of the Listing Rules and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that
the Eligible Participants (as defined below) had or may have made
to the Group. The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible
Participants (as defined below) an opportunity to have a personal
stake in the Company with the view to achieving the following
objectives: (i) motivate the Eligible Participants (as defined below)
to optimise their performance efficiency for the benefit of the
Group; and (i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain an on-
going business relationship with the Eligible Participants (as
defined below) whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long-term growth of the Group.

2. Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to
the following persons (collectively the “Eligible Participants”)
to subscribe for such number of new shares as the Board may
determine: (i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or
officers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; (i) any directors
(including non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; and (iii) any
advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers, distributors and such
other persons who, in the sole opinion of the Board, will contribute
or have contributed to the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries.
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Total number of shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme and percentage of
issued shares

As at the Latest Practicable Date, no share option has been
granted under the Share Option Scheme. The maximum number
of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and under any other share option schemes
of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 80,000,000 shares,
representing approximately 8.75% of the total number of shares in
issue as at the Latest Practicable Date.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under
the Share Option Scheme

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
(including both exercised and outstanding options) to each Eligible
Participant in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall
not exceed 1% of the shares in issue as at the date of grant.
Any further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit shall be
subject to: (i) the issue of a circular by the Company containing
the identity of the Eligible Participant, the numbers of and terms of
the options to be granted (and options previously granted to such
participant), the information as required under Rule 23.02(2)(d)
and the disclaimer required under Rule 23.02(4) of the GEM Listing
Rules; and (i) the approval of the Shareholders in general meeting
and/or other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from
time to time with such Eligible Participant and his close associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) (or his/her associates if the Eligible
Participant is a core connected person) abstaining from voting.

The period within which an option must be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and
performance target

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined
and notified by the Directors to each grantee, but shall not be more
than 10 years from the date upon which the option is deemed to
be granted and accepted. A grantee may be required to achieve
any performance targets as the Board may then specify in the grant
before any options granted under the Share Option Scheme can be
exercised.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

The minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option granted must be
held before it can be exercised except otherwise imposed by the
Directors.

The basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as
the Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, save that such
price must be at least the higher of: (i) the official closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets
on the date of grant, which must be a day on which the Stock
Exchange is open for the business of dealing in securities; (i) the
average of the official closing prices of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value
of a Share.

The amount payable on application or acceptance
of the option and the period within which
payments or calls must or may be made or loans
for such purposes must be repaid

The grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of
consideration for the grant on or before the relevant acceptance
date of the option.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme, unless otherwise terminated or
amended, will remain in force for a period of 10 years from the
Adoption Date, i.e. 19 May 2017.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no share options
were granted, exercised or cancelled by the Company under the
Share Option Scheme. There were no outstanding share options
under the Share Option Scheme as at the date of this annual
report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Save as disclosed on page 21 of this annual report, as far as the Directors
are aware, the Group has complied in material respects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2024, there
was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations by the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of
turnover attributed to the Group’s largest and the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 20.00% and 55.97% (2023: approximately
17.83% and 53.90%) of the total revenue of the Group, respectively.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s purchase from
the largest and the five largest suppliers of equipment accounted for
approximately 51.05% and 66.39% (2023: approximately 28.7%
and 77.84%) of the total purchases of the Group, respectively. At no
time during the year ended 31 December 2024 did the Directors, their
associates or any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge
of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) have any interest in the Group’s major customers or suppliers as
disclosed above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed below, during the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group has not entered into any transaction which is required to be
disclosed as a connected transaction or continuing connected transaction
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

On 8 April 2024, the Company entered into the subscription agreements
with 4 subscribers (the “Subscribers”), pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to allot and issue to the Subscribers, and
the Subscribers have conditionally agreed to subscribe for, a total of
101,488,000 subscription shares at the subscription price of HK$0.165
per subscription share under the general mandate. Closing took place
on 30 April 2024, and 101,488,000 subscription shares, representing
approximately 11.1% of the enlarged issued share capital of the
Company on 30 April 2024, have been allotted and issued to the
Subscribers.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 8 April 2024
and 30 April 2024 for further details.

Details of the related party transactions are set out in note 34 to the
audited consolidated financial statements of this annual report. These
related party transactions did not constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Remuneration to key management personnel of the Group, including
Directors described in note 14 to the Group’s audited consolidated
financial statements are continuing connected transactions exempt from
the connected transaction requirements under Rule 20.93 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 21 to 48 of
this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required
under the GEM Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive or similar rights under the laws
of Caymans Islands and the Articles which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Subject to the Companies Ordinance, every Director is entitled under the
Articles to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty
in their respective offices or trusts, except such (if any) as he or she shall
incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty.

The Company has maintained a directors and officers liability insurance
during the year ended 31 December 2024. To the extent as permitted by
the Companies Ordinance, a directors’ liability insurance is currently in
place to protect the Directors against potential costs and liabilities arising
from claims brought against the Directors.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 112 employees (31 December
2023: 123), including Directors. The remuneration package of the Group
offered to the Group’s employees includes salary, bonuses and other cash
subsidies. In general, the Group determines employees’ salaries based
on each employee’s qualifications, position and seniority. The Group
has designed an annual review system to assess the performance of the
Group’s employees, which forms the basis of the Group’s decisions with
respect to salary raises, bonuses and promotions.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its key stakeholders, including its employees, customers
and suppliers, to meet its immediate and long-term business goals.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no material and
significant disputes between the Group and its employees, customers and
suppliers.
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Report of the Board of Directors (Continued)

The Group recognises employees as one of its valuable assets and strictly
complies with the labour laws and regulations and reviews regularly
the existing staff benefits for improvement. Apart from the reasonable
remuneration packages, the Group also offers other employee benefits,
such as medical insurance. The Group provides good quality services
to its customers and keeps a database for direct communications with
recurring customers for developing a long-term trusted relationship. The
Group also maintains effective communication and develops a long-term
business relationship with the suppliers.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Company as well as a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 December
2024 and the material factors underlying its results and financial position
can be found in the management discussion and analysis set out on
pages 6 to 20 of this annual report. These discussions form part of this
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The environmental, social and governance report, which forms part of
this report, is set out on pages 49 to 73 of this annual report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”) of the Company
will be held on 17 June 2025, the notice of which shall be sent to the
shareholders of the Company in accordance with the Articles, the GEM
Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to ascertain entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 12 June 2025 to Tuesday, 17 June 2025 days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered.
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Shareholders are reminded to ensure that all completed share transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 11 June 2025.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report, the
Directors are not aware of the occurrence of any material events that are
required to be disclosed.

AUDITOR

The Company changed its auditor from PricewaterhouseCoopers to
Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited with effect from 17 June 2022. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 17 June 2022.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024 have been audited by Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited, who shall
retire at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment.

By order of the Board
Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd
Cui Hai Bin

Chairman

31 March 2025
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EENEEEEAEBZCHE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cui Hai Bin (#87&), aged 42, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 11 May 2022 and re-designated as an
executive Director and chairman of the Board on 16 January 2024. Mr.
Cui is also an executive director, the general manager and the legal
representative of Guangzhou Yichiyuan Technology Limited. Mr. Cui
graduated from China University of Geosciences (F#F B ih & KX £) in
2007 with a major in laws. Mr. Cui is a lawyer in the PRC and currently a
partner of Guangdong Promise-U (Qianhai) Law Firm (&5 & 78 K & (A
) REMEFEFT) . Mr. Cui was admitted as a lawyer in the PRC in 2009.
His practice covers complex corporate reorganisations and equity capital
markets transactions.

Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis (#53), aged 51, was appointed as a
Director on 4 November 2016 and re-designated as an executive Director,
chief executive officer and chairman of the Board on 10 November 2016.
He resigned as the chairman of the Board on 11 May 2022 but remained
as an executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company. Mr.
Yeung is also the founder, chief executive officer of the Group and a
director of each of ITP (BVI), ITP (HK), Intechpro Macau Limited, and the
executive director, general manager and legal representative of each of
Shiji Tiansheng Cultural Communication (Shenzhen) Limited (it 42 & 5%
X/bfE#E C&YI) B PR A 7)) and Shanghai Yingtegao Stage Arts Limited
(LB ERHEHEASEMAR DR . Mr. Yeung founded the Group in
April 2009 and is primarily responsible for devising strategies to develop
the Group and overseeing the business and financial performance of the
Group. Throughout the years of serving the Group, Mr. Yeung led the
Group to adopt a number of latest LED and projection technologies for
creative applications for pop concerts, such as Mesh LED and transparent
LED panels. Mr. Yeung has nearly 13 years of experience in video
equipment rental and services. Prior to founding the Group, Mr. Yeung
worked as a senior manager of I-MAG International Limited, a company
which is principally engaged in video equipment rental business where
he was responsible for customer accounts handling from April 2007
to May 2009. During the course of his promotion of video equipment
rental service for I-MAG International Limited to its customers, Mr. Yeung
acquired the relevant knowledge of the video equipment and visual
display industry. From July 1999 to March 2007, Mr. Yeung worked
in various companies and was responsible for sales of products and
customer services.

Mr. Yeung obtained a Bachelor of Civil Engineering degree from Monash
University, Clayton Campus in Australia in May 1998.
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Ms. Zhang Yan Ling (R &%), aged 62, was appointed as an
executive Director on 17 November 2022. Ms. Zhang joined the Group
as administrative manager in November 2022. Ms. Zhang graduated
from Tianjin University of Finance & Economics with a bachelor degree in
Economics. She worked in the Agricultural Bank of China between 1984
and 2018 with the last position as a bank manager at the Shenzhen
Yuanling branch (B I§ 3 77) .

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ji Gui Bao (&2& &), aged 61, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 11 May 2022. Mr. Ji has been registered as
a Certified Public Accountant of the PRC since 1995 and has extensive
experience in the accounting field. He has been working for Shenzhen
Wanda Accounting Firm ORI B Z#E & 5HA0 = FT) since January 2005
and is currently a partner of the firm.

Ms. Jiang Yu E(Z E#), aged 53, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 11 May 2022. Ms. Jiang is the chairman of
Shandong Ansuyue Technology Company Limited* (1| & %2 33 i &l 4%
BBR/AF]). She has been the chairman of Shenzhen Hawfeng Ballerina
Decoration Co., Ltd. GRIITTZE L FIERE &M AR A7) since 2013. She
has extensive experience in sales and corporate management.

Mr. Li Bing (Z=£), aged 36, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 6 December 2024. Mr. Li has served as the chief
operating officer of Mingsheng (Dalian) Network Technology Co., Ltd.*
(88 F (K3B) BRI AR A 7)) and Jiangsu Shengxin Consulting
Management Co., Ltd.* GL & R Z R B2 H R A ) where he was
in charge of the management and operations since 2021 and 2023,
respectively.

Mr. Chen Zhipeng (BR £ IE) , aged 53, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 6 December 2024.  Mr. Chen
graduated from the Hunan Armed Police Corps Changsha Command
School* (FVE H R R ER KD IBIEEFR) . Prior to this, he served in
the Armed Police Corps of Zhuzhou Detachment of Hunan* (& 28 =
HEXARINTI SZBX) . He served as a company-level police advisor at the
Zhuzhou Branch Headquarters of the Hunan Armed Police Corps* (&
LM BBRNT XK RIS 36) . He served as the general manager
assistant in Thai Star Development (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* (2 £ %
& ORYI) BBRZAE]). He is currently the managing director of Hunan
Zhuzhou Penghui Washing Co., Ltd.* GEE RN M5 1% KB IR A 7)) and
Hunan Shan Gou Technology Co., Ltd.* GHr & PISEHE IR D BR AR .
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chai Sensen (%% &), aged 33, is the general manager and
technical director of Shenzhen Xinhang Information Technology Limited
ORI EME ERHEAR2AA]) . Mr. Chai joined the Group in July
2022 in conjunction with the completion of the Group’s acquisition of
equity interests in Shenzhen Xinhang Information Technology Limited.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chai was the general manager and
technical director of Shenzhen Xinhang Information from October 2015
to July 2022, and was mainly responsible for the overall deployment and
work arrangement of the company’s software product planning and
product development direction. Mr. Chai has over 11 years of experience
in the information and data technology field.

Mr. Chai received vocational education in network information security
at Beijing Qianfeng Internet Technology Co., Ltd. (It R T2 H BRI K A
R 2 @) (“Qianfeng Education”) in 2013 and acquired relevant vocational
skills.

Ms. Shan Jun Hui (B2E &), aged 42, is the general manager of Yeyato
(Shenzhen) International Travel Limited (£ Y %8 (&II) BEEERITHE B R
A7), a subsidiary of the Group. Ms. Shan joined the Group in February
2023 and is mainly responsible for the operation of tourism products
on travel e-commerce platforms and the organisation of large-scale
commercial performances. Ms. Shan has over 22 years of experience in
the culture and tourism industry. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Shan
was the marketing director of Dalian Yida Property Co., Ltd. (KiE# (&
EEMERMKB AR AR from July 2002 to December 2014, and was
mainly responsible for the planning and marketing of real estate projects.
During the period from April 2015 to August 2020, she was the general
manager of Shenzhen Kanglv Culture Media Co., Ltd.* CFIIEER X/t
B AR 2 7)) and was mainly responsible for the operation of tourism

products.

Ms. Shan obtained a graduation certificate in business administration
from Central South University in the PRC in July 2015.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Leung Yin Fai (R##), aged 60, was appointed as the Group’s
company secretary on 10 November 2016. Ms. Leung has been a
director of K E Corporate Services Limited (a company secretarial services
provider) since April 2016, the managing director of K E Management &
Consultancy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. since August 2015 and an independent
non-executive director of Lotus Horizon Holdings Limited (Hong Kong
Stock Code: 6063), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, since March 2020. Ms. Leung was a director of KCS Hong
Kong Limited from August 2008 to October 2014 and an independent
non-executive director of Green Leader Holdings Group Limited (Stock
Code: 0061), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
from April 2014 to January 2020.

Ms. Leung was admitted as a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (currently known as Chartered Association of
Certified Accountants) in the United Kingdom in July 1995. Ms. Leung
was also admitted as a fellow member of the CPA Australia in May 2004
and is currently a member of HKICPA. Ms. Leung obtained a master’s
degree in commerce from the University of New South Wales, Australia
in November 2002.

Some English names of Chinese laws and regulations, government
authorities, departments, entities, institutions, natural persons, facilities,
certificates, titles and the like for which no official English translation
exists have been unofficially translated for identification purposes only. In
the event of any inconsistency, the Chinese name will prevail.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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To the Shareholders of Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Brightstar
Technology Group Co., Ltd and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as “ the Group ") set out on pages 101 to 187, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policies
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“ HKICPA ”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditoir’s Report (Continued)
BN ZEESRE (8)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Estimated useful lives of visual display equipment

Refer to Note 4 and Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held visual display equipment of
approximately HK$134.3 million. For the year ended 31 December 2024,
depreciation of approximately HK$30.5 million for the visual display
equipment was recognised under “cost of services” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income.

Depreciation of visual display equipment is calculated using a straight-line
method to allocate the cost over their estimated useful lives of 8 years,
except for the equipment which are custom made for a particular project
or event and their cost is depreciated over the duration of the project or
event.

Management estimates useful lives of the visual display equipment with

reference to the durability, expected repairs and maintenance and future
demand of the equipment.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Management also takes into account the industry practice and
expectation on technical or commercial obsolescence arising from
changes or improvements in the market relevant to their business.

We focused on this area because the carrying amount of visual display
equipment is significant to the consolidated financial statements and the
determination of estimated useful lives of visual display equipment, which
has a direct impact on the calculation of depreciation, requires the use of
significant judgements and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Understanding and evaluating the management’s internal control
and assessment process of estimation useful lives of visual display
equipment and assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and level of
other inherent risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity, changes
and susceptibility to management bias or fraud;

- Assessing the reasonableness of the useful lives adopted by
the Group by reviewing the historical usage of the equipment,
discussing with management and making reference to, where
available, independent research report on durability, expected
repairs and maintenance and future demand of visual display
equipment;

- Testing on a sample basis, whether additions to visual display
equipment have been recorded in proper categories for the
calculation of depreciation; and

- Observing the Group’s physical count procedures on visual display
equipment and the physical condition of the relevant assets to
identify whether there is any damaged or obsolete visual display
equipment.

We consider that the Group’s estimated useful lives of the visual display
equipment are supported by the available evidence.
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IndependentAudhgfsRepoﬁ(Conﬂnued)
BN ZEESRE (8)

Impairment test on property, plant and equipment

Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of property, plant and equipment for
impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit because the
balance of property, plant and equipment of HK$135.3 million as at 31
December 2024 is material to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, the Group’s impairment test involves application of judgement
and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Assessing the identification of the related cash generating units;

- Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the value-in-use calculations;
- Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow projections;

- Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions (including
revenue growth, profit margins, terminal growth rates and discount
rates); and

- Checking input data to supporting evidence.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for property, plant and
equipment is supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover

the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-views/
auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07374

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

GEEBERAEMEEKRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_—ZT_WNNF+_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-QE —ZT-=F
Notes HK$ HK$
i B BT
Revenue Uy & 8 164,437,151 95,668,122
Cost of services AR A (88,694,265) (69,102,958)
Gross profit EF 75,742,886 26,565,164
Interest revenue A 2 e 11,045 32,836
Other income Hip A 9 716,152 782,970
Other gains, net Hila= 558 10 309,490 316,647
Administrative expenses THEX (38,042,347) (51,042,868)
Reversal of impairment loss allowance/(provision) & 5 FE M 58 2 5 (B 5 18 B
for impairment losses on trade receivables R e, REEE (B E) 3,114,745 (3,259,760)
Profit/(loss) from operation "ERAN(BE) 41,851,971 (26,605,011)
Finance costs TR 11 (743,279) (661,066)
Profit/(loss) before tax BRBAIRA(BE) 41,108,692 (27,266,077)
Income tax expense Fris R 12 (1,005,942) (557,849)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF(FR) 13 40,102,750 (27,823,926)
Other comprehensive loss after tax: REZHM2EER !
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: T8 E# H B2 Eas#IEH -
Changes in fair value of equity investments BATEGFAEMEEYK
at fair value through other comprehensive HRERTENATE
income ) (2,090,819) (619,381)
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss: FJREEF D E BB -
Exchange differences on translating foreign BREBINEBHNERZHE
operations (7,498,332) (3,886,962)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, FREMZEER
net of tax (HBRBIE) (9,589,151) (4,506,343)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for EREEWE(BE)
the year Mz 30,513,599 (32,330,269)
BREMBEERMERAT —T-NFFH
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)

reBEmEMmEEmkaR (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EHZE—T-F+-A=+—HILtFE

2024 2023
“E-WE ZT=F
Notes HK$ HK$
i B T
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: LT AL EEERER,
(B#8) :
— Owners of the Company —RREHEAA 42,309,694 (17,882,091)
— Non-controlling interests —IEiERR = (2,206,944) (9,941,835)
40,102,750 (27,823,926)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for UTALEEERZERE,
the year attributable to: (B1R) B8
— Owners of the Company /NS ZE PN 39,099,602 (19,677,317)
— Non-controlling interests — RS (8,586,003) (12,652,952)
30,513,599 (32,330,269)
Earnings/(loss) per share SRER(HR) 16
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EARREE (B 4.80 2.21)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e R R R

As at 31 December 2024

RZEZMFE+=A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-mE —E_=F
Notes HK$ HK$
B sE BT BT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEkEE 18 135,345,358 97,576,193
Goodwill S 19 489,054 489,054
Right-of-use assets CRAEEE 20 8,935,487 10,323,280
Prepayments and deposits BRRERES 21 109,710,566 2,977,899
Equity investments at fair value through BAFEFARMPERE
other comprehensive income MERIRE 22 82,622,621 32,218,715
Prepayment for investment at fair value BAFEG AR MR EYE
through other comprehensive income IR ERBEENRIEA 23 - 44,140,366
Deferred tax assets RIERIEE E 30 2,131,296 2,106,233
339,234,382 189,831,740
Current assets REEE
Trade receivables B 5 EWFIE 21 25,512,364 12,226,501
Prepayments, deposits and other BRFIE - e kA
receivables JE W 3R I8 21 79,847,879 184,768,666
Amount due from related parties JiE U BB 5 7k IA 24 - 5,839,579
Bank and cash balances BITRIR S5 25 18,172,064 12,027,776
123,532,307 214,862,522
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B 5 ENRIA 26 32,100 33,105
Other payables and accrued liabilities Hin B RIBERETAE 27 107,573,018 93,581,238
Amount due to related parties JE SRR B 5 5k 0E 24 1,399,270 1,537,237
Bank borrowings RITER 29 3,558,707 5,928,683
Lease liabilities HEBE 31 1,637,861 4,362,202
Taxation payable FEREIIR 4,244,929 3,213,924
118,445,885 108,656,389
Net current assets REEEZRE 5,086,422 106,206,133
Total assets less current liabilities HEERABAR 344,320,804 296,037,873
BREMBEEROERAT —Z-NEER
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

FAERBIRE (F)

As at 31 December 2024 R-Z_ME&+_-A=+—H

2024 2023
11 3 —E =
Notes HK$ HK$
B s BT BT
Non-current liabilities *RBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 31 7,708,449 6,144,707
Contract liabilities EHEE 28 856,000 882,800
8,564,449 7,027,507
Net assets EERE 335,756,355 289,010,366
Capital and reserves BRAR #iE
Share capital %N 32 9,147,199 8,132,319
Reserves i 33 177,696,843 123,379,731
Equity attributable to owners of ARAER ANEERER
the Company 186,844,042 131,512,050
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR M 148,912,313 157,498,316
Total equity ERBE 335,756,355 289,010,366

The consolidated financial statements on pages 101 to 187 were
approved and authorised for issue by Board of Directors on 31 March
2025 and are signed on behalf of by:

Cui Hai Bin
B8E
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE—Z_PIF+-_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREEAELE
Accumulated
(losses)/ Non-
Share Share Capital Exchange Statutory Investment retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profit Total interests equity
it (B8)/
RA  RGEE EARE EXRE ETERE  RERB REEF @i FERER  EREE
HKS HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F—A—H 8000000 56,496,624 773,744 313,290 332,296 (61,158)  (15,227,823) 50,626,973 170,102,634 220,729,607
Total comprehensive loss for FREEBELE
the year - - - (1,653,388) = (141,838)  (17,882,091) (19,677,317) (12,652,952) (32,330,269)
Issue of shares (note 32) BTRA (H7E32) 132,319 100,430,075 - - - - - 100,562,394 - 100,562,394
Acquisition of a subsidiary WERB AR - - - - - - - - 48,634 48,634
At 31 December 2023 RZZ==%+=A
Er= 8,132,319 156,926,699 773,744 (1,340,098) 332,296 (202,996)  (33,109,914) 131,512,050 157,498,316 289,010,366
At 1 January 2024 R-E-ME—A—HB 8132319 156,926,699 773,744 (1,340,098) 332,296 (202,996)  (33,109,914) 131,512,050 157,498,316 289,010,366
Total comprehensive (loss)income A2 (F18) /s
for the year o] - - - (2,731,294) - (478,798) 42,309,694 39,099,602  (8,586,003) 30,513,599
Issue of shares (note 32) BT (HHEs2) 1,014,880 15,217,510 - - - - - 1623239 - 16,232,390
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-MFE+=A
S 9,147,199 172,144209 773,744 (4,071,392) 332,29 (681,794) 9,199,780 186,844,042 148,912,313 335,756,355

BEMEEEROERAT
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EHZE_—Z_NF+-A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
ZEIMF T
HKS$ HK$
BT on
Cash flows from operating activities RETHMBRERE
Profit/(loss) before tax BRELATE T (EE) 41,108,692 (27,266,077)
Adjustment for: TS IBEL A -
Interest revenue B (11,045) (32,836)
Finance costs YR IDRN 743,279 661,066
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M BEREETE 30,805,715 23,244,693
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEENE 4,654,904 4,209,634
Loss on disposals of property, plant and HEME - BERBHD
equipment 518 - 6,185,233
(Reversal of impairment loss allowance)/provision 2 5 W EIA OB B 1B 5
for impairment losses on trade receivables BRLE), REBEREE (3,114,745) 3,259,760
Share-based payments URREN - 562,400
Operating profit before working capital changes LIEE BRI E R A 74,186,800 10,823,873
Change in trade receivables B EWRIEEH) (10,171,118) (3,512,810)
Change in prepayments, deposits and other TR FRIE - e REME
receivables W TR IR 5 B (6,689,412) 5,092,526
Change in contract liabilities BREEZD (26,800) (18,000)
Change in trade payables B S RN RIAE (1,005) (132,362)
Change in other payables and accrued liabilities HmEMNRIERES AR
& 6,724,679 5,391,052
Cash generated from operations KEMSRE 64,023,144 17,644,279
Profits tax paid B RS - (2,107,592)
Net cash generated from operating activities & EEBIERESEE 64,023,144 15,536,687
Cash flows from investing activities RETBHMEBESRE
Interest received B U F B 11,045 32,836
Payment for acquisition of property, plant and W B - BB MBI
equipment (60,257,446) (29,483,791)
Net cash outflow from acquisition of a subsidiary ~ UXBEHIE A AIAVIR &7
R - (530,498)
Purchase of investments in fair value through other AR A FEFAEMEE
comprehensive income W E (10,381,559) (44,140,366)
Net cash used in investing activities RETBFMARESFE (70,627,960) (74,121,819)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

Sz =L

,\\/\ EEJ \/ /)L

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-T_PUF+-_A=+—HIEFE

2024 2023
—EB-NEF —E—=
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Cash flows from financing activities RMETEHRERERE
Repayment of bank borrowings BBIITER (2,369,976) (3,648,149)
Advance/(repayment) from related parties B GER) 5,701,612 (1,596,253)
Payments of principal element of lease liabilities & ETH‘E\EE$/£ g (4,210,723) (4,368,216)
Payments of interest element of lease liabilities EEHEEBEMNERS (546,317) (257,641)
Proceeds from issue of shares BITRD FTB5R08 16,232,390 59,999,880
Bank loan interest paid BEMIRITERFE (196,962) (403,425)
Net cash generated from financing activities BEEEMEBRESFE 14,610,024 49,726,196
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash RERRESZEEYEM
equivalents (ML) F88 8,005,208 (8,858,936)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes AN D 2 2 B ) S 2 (1,860,920) (1,672,649)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FURERRSEEY
the year 12,027,776 22,559,361
Cash and cash equivalents at end of theyear EFRBRERBELEEY 18,172,064 12,027,776
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents HeERBEEEYIN
Bank and cash balances RITRIB 4 18,172,064 12,027,776
REMBEBRHNERLIT —Z-NFEEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 November 2016 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law
(as revised) of the Cayman Islands, as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time. The address of its registered
office is Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1008 Cayman Islands. The principal place of business
of the Company is located at Unit D2, 5/F, Hoi Bun Industrial
Building, 6 Wing Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the provision of visual display solution services for concerts
and events primarily in Hong Kong, Macau and the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”), the provision of information
technology consulting services in the PRC, and the provision of
hotel reservation and convention planning services in the PRC (the
“Business”). The Company’s shares were listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing”) on 14 June 2017.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
that are relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting
year beginning on 1 January 2024. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations. The adoption of these
new and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to
the Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and amounts reported for the
current year and prior years.

Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd Annual Report 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has already
commenced an assessment of the impact of these new and revised
HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state whether these new
and revised HKFRSs would have a material impact on its results of
operations and financial position.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by investment which are
carried at their fair values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and
estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise their judgements
in the process of applying the accounting policies. The areas
involving critical judgement and areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to these consolidated financial statements
are disclosed in note 4 to these consolidated financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties,
to determine whether it has control. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise
that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss
of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of
the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment
retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the
net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating
to that subsidiary and any related accumulated foreign currency
translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the
Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Consolidation (CONTINUED)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Business combination and goodwiill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of
a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is
measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given,
equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred and contingent
consideration. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses
in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are
received. ldentifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the
acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share of
the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Company’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain
on bargain purchase which is attributed to the Company.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might
be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. The method of measuring impairment losses
of goodwill is the same as that of other assets as stated in the
accounting policy below. Impairment losses of goodwill are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not subsequently
reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition for the
purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured
at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate share of the net
fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AT BHmRME (E)

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation

(@) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong Dollars (HK$), which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency. The
functional currency of the Group’s principal operating
subsidiaries is Renminbi (“RMB”). The directors consider that
choosing HK$ as the presentation currency best suits the

needs of the shareholders and investors.

(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial

statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and
liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange
rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses
resulting from this translation policy are recognised in profit

or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at

the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that

gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation (CONTINUED)

(9]

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
that have a functional currency different from the Company’s
presentation currency are translated into the Company’s
presentation currency as follows:

(iif)

Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;

Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the exchange
rates on the transaction dates); and

All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the
foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation
of the net investment in foreign entities and of borrowings are
recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a
foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognised
in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ERRM T (B8)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over the
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal useful
lives are as follows:

Visual display equipment
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8 years or over the duration of the event, where appropriate

BEBETRRE BFHMEEHA (MNEE)
Furniture and other equipment 4 years

BRIE R H AR 4%

Motor vehicles 3-5 years

E 3ZE55F

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms
HERE ER

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases

The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding
lease liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the
Group. Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use
assets is calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
The principal lease terms are as follows:

— Premises 1-5 years
. Z/E —EHF
— Office equipment 1-5 years
—PRERE —Z0F

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount
of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments
prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the lease payments discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be
determined, or otherwise the Group ’s incremental borrowing rate.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an
initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets
of value below US$5,000.

The Group as lessor

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all the risks
and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for as operating
leases. Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

3.

REMREEROBERAT

AT BHmRME (B)

EXER

HE

AEBAEMEA
HERHEEEEHAKBEERFE
RARERREEREENHERE -
FERAREEINRAKARERFITE
RBEEBE ERAREENEANER
FREEMAIERFHREEN (A
REERE)MBEERAFTE - T2H
T

i

BER (@)

EREEERRA(BREERE H
EFEMRK - MIaEEKA RIEERAK
MIEETESR)E - -HERERRE
BHETFREMOMNEX (MAEE) XA
SEAESERNRPFRENEE N K
FRE - -SREENFREIERAE
B - KA ERERAE
AB# URBHERBEZHR &K
BEEMEFHE -

HEHAENREEEERBHONR
EFHEHANREREINEBETTERA
MY - EHREAEAEESN 12
AU THHEE - KEEEEERER
{E 525,000 TR B E °

AEBESEHAA
EEHGARMBAIN YRR K DRI
AEBEABEANBOARINMELE
B - KEHEHSRAREBHEB
NIABAROETER

“ECNFER

115



116

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets;
or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained
control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract
whose terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe
established by the market concerned, and are initially recognised at
fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the
case of investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following
categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost; and

- Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
%ﬁégﬁﬁ%$&%mﬁ DE (/\‘/\)

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are
classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected
credit losses.

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income

On initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate
investments in equity instruments that are not held for
trading as at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income are subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair values recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
equity investment revaluation reserve. On derecognition
of an investment, the cumulative gains or losses previously
accumulated in the equity investment revaluation reserve are
not reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends on these investments are recognised in profit or
loss, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part
of the cost of the investment.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
(“ECL”) on financial assets at amortised cost. ECL are the weighted
average of credit losses with the respective risks of a default
occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the loss
allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the ECL
that result from all possible default events over the expected life
of that financial instrument (“lifetime ECL") for trade receivables,
or if the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to the
portion of lifetime ECL that represents the ECL that result from
default events on that financial instrument that are possible within
12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of ECL or reversal to adjust the loss allowance at the
end of the reporting period to the required amount is recognised in
profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

Bank and cash balances

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term
highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in
value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included
as a component of cash and cash equivalents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer with reference to the customary business
practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. For a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised product or service
exceeds one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a
customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that
apply to that contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied
over time or at a point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied
over time if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

- the Group ’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of
the product or service.

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
4= AR
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(9]

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave
are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision
is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long
service leave as a result of services rendered by employees up
to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (“ MPF Scheme
”) in Hong Kong under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

The Group also participates in a defined contribution
retirement scheme organised by the government in the PRC.
The Group is required to contribute a specific percentage of
the payroll of its employees to the retirement scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the retirement
scheme. No forfeited contributions may be used by the
employers to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs
and involves the payment of termination benefits.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxation (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purpose of allocating resources and assessing
the performance of the Group’s various lines of business.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AT BHmRME (E)

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Segment reporting (CONTINUED)

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of productions processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or of a parent of the Company.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of the same

group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties (CONTINUED)
(b)  (CONTINUED)

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Company or to a parent of the Company.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets except deferred tax asset,
investments and receivables to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of any impairment loss.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

AT BHmRME (B)

=
i
me
i3
Bt
w
><L
i
Bt
o 2
=

4W%H@ﬂ#ﬂ
$%I$%@E%ﬁ%'
RHUEPWEITEALE
EARE
(vi) E X (a)Ffr &8 Bl A £ 42 1
KRR o

g
mm

(i) EEBEBEE

SRS

o

EERE
AEERSHRERRRIEBELEE
(TERELCHEAEEE  REUAREK
FIE)ZRHEE  UHEERFEERR
HEREMREBETR - i £ R L
B& - At REEEZA KOS
REDARE SRR BB B &R o i T REf AT
&5 & E R/ AT Y Bl & 58 - ANEE A
AEEMBNRSELAEUMNTKRE
ok I

i E & BT IRE A FER LSRR
HEBEENRSEMAE -HEEE
FERAEBER FAAARARRESREUR
MREMMSHEEEREEEREE
AEREARNKHAMREUAZRE
at&E o

REMREBRNAERAT —Z-NFFHR

125



126

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of assets (CONTINUED)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of amortisation or
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information
about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting period or
those that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate
are adjusting events and are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting
events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors
of the Company have made the following judgements that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements apart from those involving
estimations, which are dealt with below.

Consolidation of entity of less than 50% equity interest
Although the Group owns less than 50% of the equity interest in
Shenzhen Xinhang Information Technology Company Limited (“
Shenzhen Xinhang ”), Shenzhen Xinhang is treated as a subsidiary
because the Group is able to control the relevant activities of
Shenzhen Xinhang as a result of the shareholders’ agreement
between the Group and other shareholders of Shenzhen Xinhang.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are discussed below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ERRM T (B8)

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(9]

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
Management determines the estimated useful lives, and
related depreciation charge for its property, plant and
equipment. The estimates are based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions, the durability, the
expected repairs and maintenance and the future demand
of equipment. Management will increase the depreciation
charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated
useful lives. It will write off or write-down technically obsolete
or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful
lives. Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable
lives and therefore affect the depreciation charge in future
periods.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is determined with
reference to the present value of estimated future cash
flows. Where the future cash flows are less than expected
or there are unfavourable events and change in facts and
circumstance which result in revision of future estimate cash
flows, a material impairment loss may arise.

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful
debts based on assessments of the recoverability of the
trade and other receivables and contract assets, including
the current creditworthiness and the past collection history
of each debtor. Impairments arise where events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the
actual result is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of the trade and
other receivables and loan receivables and doubtful debt
expenses in the year in which such estimate has been
changed. If the financial conditions of the debtors were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional allowances may be required.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (CONTINUED)

(d)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to United States dollars (“US$”), Macau
Patacas (“MOP”) and Renminbi (“RMB”). Foreign exchange risk
arises when future commercial transactions, recognised assets
and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the
Group entities’ functional currency.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, US$ is
reasonably stable with HK$ under the Linked Exchange Rate
System, and accordingly, the Group considers the foreign
exchange risk is low and no sensitivity analysis is performed
relative to US$.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against HK$ with all other variables held
constant, profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 would
have been approximately HK$2,058,009 higher/lower (2023:
HK$1,065,449 lower/higher), mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains on translation of payables denominated in
RMB.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AN
AR A

B 15 R R BT At

(%)

5. % Fi/E kRS IE (CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk

The carrying amounts of cash at banks, trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables included in the consolidated
statement of financial position represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets.

The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject
to the expected credit loss models:

. Trade receivables;

° Other financial assets carried at amortised cost; and

o Advance to third parties.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables of the Group represent amounts due from
reputable companies in the entertainment industry and
e-commerce industry. The Group has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past
due. The Group measures the expected credit losses on a
combination of both individual and collective basis.

Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd Annual Report 2024

5.

ctHMmERERE @
(b) EERAR

*JrJ\Z*/\H?H‘%Hﬂiﬁ%E’\JﬁEﬁE%

BHRUWKE ReRHEM
%HQ%EH’UE&E%W%K%%
HemBEMARENERAEER

LA
o0
PR

AEBEMES
HEEBEEN

MEEAETHE

s EZERWFIA:

s REEKRAIERMHHMS
BMEE: &

. AZE=HBR-

8 2 RWRE

RE B E 5 WRIA & IR
LEETABTETEEREA
ANWFIE - AEECRE—ER
ERRYHERERERBRETH
BRI o

AEEEREBTBHRELELSE
MBI A A ERBMEES
B - AFBESRERWREFRZ
HRTEEAES B BB - BETETEHE
EEE BHREWREDREH®
AEERREBERBBERHED
Hoe AEBESER K LR EE
FrEREEEEEE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
%ﬁégﬁﬁ%$&%mﬁ DE (/\‘/\)

5. % Fi/E kS IR (CONTINUED) 5. TEEMRERE@m

(b) Credit risk (CONTINUED) (b) EERR @&

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective basis

Expected credit losses also estimated by grouping the
receivables based on similar credit risk characteristics and
collectively assessed for likelihood of recovery, taking into
account the customers’ ageing category and historical
payment profiles, and applying the expected credit loss rates
to the respective gross carrying amounts of the receivables.

The expected credit loss rates were determined based on
historical default rates and were adjusted to the effects

BEAREEFERMGEERE
BEHEEBERBEBREANUEE
B 455 A PR WO IR 1T D AR
5T - A R BB R 14 U B /9 AT &€
- EREEREFPOREKER
RELZMAHR  XHBEREE
&5 18 = 8 R B U TR B0 BR T 42
1 o

BHEEEREXDREELED
ZZFg I*ETF?S%W/RE’J*/’

of current market conditions as well as forwardlooking R BRPEREERFIEE K
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of RECOE R = RTIE \Eﬁﬂ fEH
the customers to settle the receivables. T o

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as
“net impairment loss on trade receivables” within operating
loss. When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account for receivables. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

BRI ANBREBSRREE
BEAZINARE SR FRER
BEEFE] EREREEZX
Wom By - % BRI R R IR B R
AR P EH Ei\h%llﬁl@ﬁ%ﬁuﬁﬁlﬁﬁ
MEBARAREBRSEREME
[EI & F
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ERRM T (B8)

5. % Fi/E kRS IE (CONTINUED)

(b)

Credit risk (CONTINUED)

Other financial assets carried at amortised cost

The Group’s other financial assets carried at amortised
cost include bank and cash balances, deposits and other
receivables in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The impairment loss of other financial assets carried at
amortised cost is measured based on the 12-month expected
credit loss. The 12-month expected credit loss is the portion
of lifetime expected credit loss that results from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible within
twelve months after the reporting date. However, when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination,
the allowance will be based on the lifetime expected credit
loss.

Management considered the credit risk of deposits and other
receivables as low as the counterparties have the capacity to
meet their contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.

The majority of the Group’s bank and cash balances are
deposited in major financial institutions located in Hong
Kong, Macau and the PRC which are of high credit rating.
Management does not expect any losses arising from non-
performance by these financial institutions.

The majority of the Group’s rental deposits are placed with
various landlords in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC, and
are due to refund upon the expiry of the tenancy agreements
and handover of the leased premises. The Group has not
experienced any defaults by the landlords.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ERRM T (8)

5. % Fi/E kS IR (CONTINUED) 5. TEEMRERE@m

(b) Credit risk (CONTINUED) (b) EERR @&

Other financial assets carried at amortised cost (CONTINUED)

The majority of the Group’s rental deposits for equipment
are placed with various reputable companies in Hong Kong
and the PRC, and are due to refund upon the termination
of equipment rental contracts and return of the leased visual
display equipment. The Group has not experienced any
defaults by the counterparties.

The receivables from newly acquired subsidiary’s former
shareholders are closely monitored by the directors of the
Company. Management does not expect any loss arising from
the borrower.

For advance to third parties, in order to minimise the credit
risk, the Group has established policies and systems for
monitoring and control of credit risk. The management has
delegated different divisions responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring processes
to ensure that follow up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, management reviews the recoverable
amounts of loan and interest collectively at each reporting
date to ensure that adequate allowance for impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts.

Therefore, the Group has assessed that the expected credit
losses for these financial assets carried at amortised costs
were close to zero under 12-month expected losses method,
and therefore no provision was recognised.

BEERAIERNEMERERE
(&)
AEBAMORBEERES N7
HMREBEERTENZHEERLT
MAR - YARKERERES
HEkBEHERERTRERER
B AEBRYELETARSY
FEONSF -

ARAREZTY EREUE KB
BiE AR ATALRNIR - BB E TR
HET TS HBUEMERE -

HEMBE=S2F AEEDZE
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B AhXBEREEFEERR - &
EEERETRABMEEEER
ERAE FEEHLEMERER
2 BARRIURETE KD E
Bl ERERESERSE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R M RR I (B)

5. £ RiE kT E (CONTINUED)

(c) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flow, of
the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows:

ctHMmERERE @

() RBESRAR

AEENHKEATEHNEREERA
N REESE R UERE
HERFEHRIR SR EAER R
REHOREBESERK -

%E/\\\*Eﬁfﬁiﬁiuwgﬁﬁfﬁu$§ﬁk
EermEENIHASIFTAOT

Within
1 year/ Between Between
repayable 1 and 2 and
on demand 2 years 5 years Total
—FR/
BERMEE 1226 2E55 st
HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
At 31 December 2024 R-T_[Y4F
t=ZA=+—8
Amount due to JE 1<) BB 77 SROE
related parties 1,399,270 - - 1,399,270
Trade payables B 5 IA 32,100 - - 32,100
Other payables and H fth & A~ 5RIE K
accrued liabilities T A& 107,573,018 - - 107,573,018
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,999,183 4,438,943 3,631,803 10,069,929
Bank borrowings and  B/TERKRIEX
overdrafts 3,736,642 - - 3,736,642
114,740,213 4,438,943 3,631,803 122,810,959
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

%ﬁégﬁ%%i&%ﬁﬁlﬂf<m\)

< &b /B B B B (CONTINUED) 5. LRlEREE @
(c) Liquidity risk BE S E R E)
Within
1 year/ Between Between
repayable 1 and 2 and
on demand 2 years 5 years Total
—Fn/
RERER 15226 2ESEF it
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
HBETT BTT B TT & TT
At 31 December 2023 HR=-Z=-=%F
+=—HA=+—H
Amount due to JE 1~ BBt 77 SROE
related parties 1,537,237 = — 1,537,237
Trade payables =) ANE 33,105 — — 33,105
Other payables and e RRIE &
accrued liabilities EEtRE 93,581,238 — — 93,581,238
Lease liabilities iﬁﬁfﬁﬂi 5,324,531 4,336,868 2,101,258 11,762,657
Bank borrowings and RITERRBEX
overdrafts 6,225,117 — — 6,225,117
106,701,228 4,336,868 2,101,258 113,139,354

(d) Interest rate risk

At 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Group
does not have any interest bearing financial assets or liabilities
except for cash at banks and bank overdrafts at floating
rates and bank borrowings at fixed rates. The Group’s cash
at banks earns interest at low interest rates, which are not
significant. Hence, bank borrowings at fixed rates are what

expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

At 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the directors
of the Company consider that the interest rate risk in relation
to the Group’s cash at banks and bank borrowings is not
significant as the fluctuation of the interest rates are minimal.

(d) F=ERER

R-ZZE-_NMFE+-_A=+—"HxK
ZEZ=F+ZH=1+—H 'K
BEHFERFEMNRTRS IR
ﬁ%iu&&lmﬂ@E HHR
ITIEFIN  REB W EAEMEE
iﬂé?iﬁ%°$%@mﬁﬁ
REEFEFREF L - HEE
REDMARE - Bt ZEE
ﬂ¥ﬁ%m%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ$%EE
Fa A B ) 3= | b

R=FE_MEF—_A=+—HK
—ER_=Ht_A=t+t—H8'&
ARRIESFRA - BRI RRB M
TRE RAKERITRS RIR
TERERENFIRRRIT FEX -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AT BHmRME (E)

5. £@EtEEEE (CONTINUED) 5.

(e) Categories of financial instruments

ctHMmERERE @
(e) R IANS S

2024 2023
—ENE —ZF=-=
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Financial assets: SREE :
Equity investments at fair value through 22 F(E T A E b & U
other comprehensive income R IEE 82,622,621 32,218,715
Financial assets at amortised cost REEKAS RN EREE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BB MBESEEY) 122,636,538 212,576,917
Financial liabilities: SREE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REER AR SRBE 121,909,405 111,587,172
(f) Fair value (f) 2¥E

Except as disclosed in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
assets and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their respective
fair values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures of
fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises
into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure
fair value:

Level 1 inputs:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can
access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs:  inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs:  unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out

of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in

circumstances that caused the transfer.

(@)  Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 December:

A M ERRIEE (8)

AV EE

RFERTHE2EERFERLET
MBEFRZTHEEEMBIMKEE
BEMXMAOER - UTRAFEFE
REEMFANRFERBIZA UG
EQNFENGESTEMEANEG AR
BoR=ERBR :

F—EBA AKERFEBHAES
Br MEREEXBBERERE
MIZEME CREHE)

F_RE@A BRE— SHmEIN
R éFIEEH’JT&E%@W\
BB (TwEESEE) -

EMEA AELABOTTRES
AR AEH-
AREOREARRBEELRB
B8 SR A £ = B AR AR
B R -

(@ MT-A=t—HRAFEER

B AR Bl % B8
Fair value
measurements
using:
EAUTER
FEATHE:
Description 2024
e —EMF
Level 3
E=&
HK$
BT
Recurring fair value measurements: REMEQNFETE:
Equity investments at fair value through BRATVESFAEMEEEKED
other comprehensive income EmIRE
— Private equity investments - LERERE 82,622,621
Total recurring fair value measurements KEMANFEFE88E 82,622,621
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

=
#ra R

F %R MYt (48D

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. AFETE @
(@  (CONTINUED) (a) (#&)
Fair value
measurements
using:
EALATER
STEAFE:
Description 2023
B et
Level 3
B
HK$
BIT
Recurring fair value measurements: REMEQNFETE:
Equity investments at fair value through BRAFEGFAHMEEEED
other comprehensive income ERRE
— Private equity investments - LERERE 32,218,715
Total recurring fair value measurements KEMQAFEF=288 32,218,715
(b)  Reconciliation of assets and liabilities measured at fair value (b) HE=ZHFATEF=ENEEIE
based on level 3: BRI
Equity
investments at
fair value
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through other
comprehensive

Description income
BRAOFETA
Hitt2Elm
A ERERE
HK$
BT
At 1 January 2024 RZZE_HFE—H—H 32,218,715
Total gains or losses recognised in other P L {2 TR M e R R ) MK 2 2
comprehensive income B8 4a%E (2,090,819)
Addition NE 53,500,000
Exchange differences fEH =% (1,005,275)
At 31 December 2024 R=-Z2-_QNE+=-A=+—~H 82,622,621




6.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ERRIE (E)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. AFEFE @
(b)  (CONTINUED) (b) (#&)
Equity
investments at
fair value
through other
comprehensive
Description income
BRRAFERTA
H 2 mE K
A IR E
HK$
BIT
At 1 January 2023 R-ZZE—_=F—H—H 33,512,821
Total gains or losses recognised in other L th 2 THT UK 2 T 58 A i 2 o
comprehensive income E5ia4E R (619,381)
Exchange differences &5 =% (674,725)
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=%+-"A=+—H 32,218,715
The total gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive O B Ath 2 T 4N 55 T 3R A L 5 S S
income are presented in investment reserve in the BREREeEakEME2E K
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other HEAANNREREZY
comprehensive income.
(0 Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (0 XREBRZ-_Z-_MWMF+ = A

and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2024 and 31 December

2023:

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for the fair
value measurements of assets and liabilities required for
financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value

=+—HERZZE=-Z=%+=A
=t+—BFREERFURAF
BEfEMAGERN LB ALR
B3 EE

AEBNMBRERERT KR
SETHMBENEERABRATE
AE(REE=RATEFE) -

measurements. The financial controller reports directly to M BEERNEESERAH

the board of directors for these fair value measurement.
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held
between the financial controller and the board of directors at

least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally
engage an independent professional valuer with the
recognised professional qualifications and recent experience

to perform the valuations.

AVEFEFH MEAERS
EEBFEONMAERF R
RERETMRT W °

REBRAFVEFEMS  £&
ERAESZRAARAERER
KT R B w0 18 L B (L B AT
1T1t1E °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AERBHmRME (E)

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
() (CONTINUED)

Level 3 fair value measurements

=MLV EE

Effect on
fair value Fair value
for increase 31 December
Description Valuation technique  Unobservable inputs Range of inputs 2024
B
HAER “E-nE
YAPE oAZT-R
B HEH FTABEGAEH &E hee PRRE
HK$
A7
Private equity investment classified as equity Share of net assets N/A N/A N/A 82,622,621
investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income
PREREATEFARMZERS MEBEEE TER THER TER
HERRENLERERE
Effect on
fair value Fair value
for increase 31 December
Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range of inputs 2023
Zm
BAER —B-=f
Y2PE A=t
HEA fhE R TABRGAEHR %[ M2 NYE
HKS$
BT
Private equity investment classified as equity Share of net assets N/A N/A N/A 32,218,715
investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income
PERRATEFAEMZEKS MAEEFE TR T TER
HERRENLERERE
During the year, there were no changes in the valuation RER -« FTAMERMTIE &S -

techniques used.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment, the chief operating decision-maker (i.e. the chief
executive of the Group) reviews the overall results and financial
position of the Group, which are prepared based on the same
accounting policies set out in note 3.

The Group has three reportable segments as follows:

Provision of visual display solution services — engaged in visual
display solutions services for concerts and events and equipment
rental income;

Information technology consulting services — engaged in one-stop
technical consulting services and solutions for e-commerce business
platforms; and the metaverse technology business;

Hotel reservation and convention planning services — engaged in
hotel reservation and convention planning services.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that
offer different products and services. They are managed separately
because each business requires different technology and marketing
strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
those described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

AT BHmRME (B)

7 =B & #

BOEEREFHERR  TBKER
RE(BAEETRAS) EHASE
M EE R XA R B AR (R RE3FT &L
MRS BRRRE) -

REBBEUT=@ERIHREDE :

RHEBEBTIBRIERE -—KRER
B& MEEMEERERERD RRE
AR REHEHERA

BB RERARGE - EERETEHD
EBTFaRE - ARMHEARSE R
BRDE  URTTFERMER

BERTREZRIARE—LEEHE
BRI R EZ R R -

AEEMAHRED B IRENRER
MR ERE R B - AR PTH X
R & SR BE B Bl - B IR E KA E 5
B o
RESANEABRREGAPBTRER
Ff £ 3R E AR R o

ok
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A

N

7.

B 5w M AL ()

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about reportable segment profits or losses, assets and

2 EE R (@)

AHEsHEE EERBBHEBE
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liabilities: B
Hotel
reservation
Visual Information and
display technology convention
solution consulting planning
services services services Total
REET BRI R
RRA R BEARR SEAE
PR 7 B 7 AR A% BR % st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
For the year ended BEr—ZF—pF
37 December 2024 +=—A=+—H
IFFE
Revenue from external INERE P U as
customers 163,675,682 268,836 492,633 164,437,151
Segment profit/(loss) S EREF (EEB) 43,612,213 (2,950,036) (559,427) 40,102,750
Depreciation of property, — ¥1% - B R ZEFTE
plant and equipment 30,805,715 - - 30,805,715
Depreciation of right-of-use A& EITE
assets 4,654,904 - - 4,654,904
Interest revenue %"J ,%\ J-l& A 8,152 2,893 - 11,045
Interest expense %lJ BHY (743,279) - - (743,279)
Income tax expenses 1S5 2 (1,005,942) - - (1,005,942)
Additions to segment non- //J\Eﬁ‘u‘ﬁ JEMENE E
current assets 72,058,991 - - 72,058,991



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

e MR R M

(%)

Hotel
reservation
Visual Information and
display technology convention
solution consulting planning
services services services Total
REETR B IETEE] &
fRRTT & Eﬂﬂﬁ gaRE
Rk 75 RS RR 75 HET
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BTT BT BT BT
For the year ended Hzr—F_—= ff
31 December 2023 e —
IEFE
Revenue from external INERE P Y s
customers 90,836,040 2,479,432 2,352,650 95,668,122
Segment loss S EbE1E (10,393,519) (13,295,713)  (4,134,694) (27,823,926)
Depreciation of property, — ¥1% - BB R REITE
plant and equipment 23,244,693 - - 23,244,693
Depreciation of right-of-use £ REEETE
assets 4,209,634 - - 4,209,634
Interest revenue HMEHA 4,089 26,326 2,421 32,836
Interest expense %IJ BHX (661,066) = = (661,066)
Income tax expenses 1S 2 (557,849) = = (557,849)
Additions to segment non- //J\E’D HIERBEE
current assets 77,203,945 - - 77,203,945
BREMNEEERGERAR —Z-WNFFIR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R M RR I (B)

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) o EER (&
Hotel
reservation
Visual Information and
display  technology convention
solution consulting planning
services services services Total
BEET BIETERT R
R R BB SERE
BR 7 & R BR 7% wmat
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
As at 31 December 2024 ~ R -FE_[y4#F+—H
=]
Segment assets DEEE 253,192,848 209,108,770 465,071 462,766,689
Segment liabilities SEEE 110,011,883 12,475,156 4,523,295 127,010,334
Hotel
reservation
Visual Information and
display technology convention
solution consulting planning
services services services Total
REBET BETER] &
R T B BB gl
PR 75 & 7R AR 75 Pk 75 45t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BIT HBIT BT
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZFE_-=#+_4
=55
Segment assets DEEE 184,425,043 218,441,221 1,827,998 404,694,262
Segment liabilities HEaE 97,573,905 12,663,039 5,446,952 115,683,896
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A HRREE (8)

REVENUE

Revenue represents the fair value of amounts received and
receivable from provision of visual display solution services,
information technology consulting services, equipment rental
income and hotel reservation and convention planning services. An

8. Wz
WAt IR R R ERRR T RRE -
BB R BARS B EAS KA

RBERIRGERERBOE W R
M RENLRFE - AEENORED

analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follow: M
2024 2023
—EZWEF —E==
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Revenue from visual display solution KB RGRBERERR
services 77 RAR TS HY W 2 163,129,773 90,751,040
Revenue from information technology KB EME A
consulting services AR 7% #9 Uk 2= 268,836 2,479,432
Equipment rental income JEEERA 545,909 85,000
Hotel reservation and convention BIETER] kg R SRS
planning services 492,633 2,352,650
164,437,151 95,668,122
RENBEERNDERAT —ZT-HFEFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
iRe ISR MR ()

8. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

8. Wz @)

BE-_Z_N§g+-_A=+—HILFE

Hotel
reservation
Visual Information and
display technology convention
solution consulting planning
Geographic information it E& services services services Total
REET BIEETR
fRRF R BB =Tk
PR % & 5 BR % BR % st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Revenue: Wras
Hong Kong aBE 47,176,741 - - 47,176,741
PRC i 81,439,915 268,836 492,633 82,201,384
Macau e 30,667,424 - - 30,667,424
Others Hth 4,391,602 - - 4,391,602
163,675,682 268,836 492,633 164,437,151
Timing of revenue Wy 22 T 5T B T
recognition
At a point in time R—RMEE - 268,836 492,633 761,469
Over time & By 163,675,682 - - 163,675,682
Total #Et 163,675,682 268,836 492,633 164,437,151
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A HRREE (8)

REVENUE (CONTINUED) 8. Wz @)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_T-_=F+-_A=+—HLFE
Hotel
reservation
Visual Information and
display technology convention
solution consulting planning
Geographic information t#hEER services services services Total
BEETR BETER] &
R T 2R BARH EE R
P 75 B RT PR %% “5t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Revenue: g
Hong Kong A 37,666,861 — — 37,666,861
PRC A 28,587,598 2,479,432 2,352,650 33,419,680
Macau SEPY 19,797,054 = = 19,797,054
Others HAh 4,784,527 - - 4,784,527

90,836,040 2,479,432 2,352,650 95,668,122

Timing of revenue Wy 25 T2 B B
recognition
At a point in time R - 2,479,432 2,352,650 4,832,082
Over time & A [ 90,836,040 - - 90,836,040
Total BEt 90,836,040 2,479,432 2,352,650 95,668,122
The Group’s non-current assets other than equity investments at AEEFERDHEE BRLATFEFAR
fair value through other comprehensive income, prepayment for tEEHREZNERIRE  KAFER
investment at fair value through other comprehensive income and AEME2EKZEMIEERNRERE
deferred tax assets were located as follows: ERIEBEERIN R TS MHE :
2024 2023
“EZNF —E=F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Non-current assets: FEMEEE
Hong Kong BE 129,707,121 100,356,269
PRC ol 123,313,413 10,599,586
Macau P 1,459,931 410,571
254,480,465 111,366,426
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REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Information about major customers

Revenue attributed from customers that accounted for 10% or
more of the Group’s total revenue during the year is as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
4= AR

JI\A /\ﬁ%%$&i§|z{j%$ (?“g)

Y = (|)

Customer A (Visual display solution services) & FA (1R R 7R ARR T 2= RTE)
Customer B (Visual display solution services) % FB (1R & 78R EE R 77 RARTS)

* The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue
of the Group.

Revenue from visual display solution services

Revenue from visual display solution services is recognised over the
show or event period of a project as customers have simultaneously
received and consumed the benefits provided by the Group’s
services. Revenue is recognised using the output method by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation, which is directly measured by the value of
each show or event being performed.

A performance obligation is a contractual promise to transfer a
distinct good or services to a customer and is the unit of account
under HKFRS 15. Contracts of the Group include various services
which is integrated into a single deliverable and are therefore
generally accounted for as a single performance obligation.

The Group derives revenue primarily under fixed price contracts.
If at any time the costs to complete the contract are estimated
to exceed the remaining amount of the consideration under the
contract, then a provision is recognised.

Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd Annual Report 2024

FETEEZFNEH
RER HEAREEZKEI0%HAE
MEFEHERKEWT
2024 2023
—EB-mEF ek 3
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
18,264,000 N/A* 38 F *
32,892,917 17,064,757

* HEMRETESAEEREEER10%
AL

RERBGETBERTEZRBEH
Wy 5

KB RGERBERTTRERE O RER
BEHHIBERESETHHAMER
REFRBRGILIHERE BN RS
iRV Aes - RE 2R 2 BT
BHEENERFERS L AER > T
KRETRAOBEENERBERZAET
BEHERHIEBNEETE -

BHEERRAEFEZNREE RIIR
Beaiism ARBEMBRELE
AIFISSIE T 285 B - AEE R
BHNEERZERYE HEAGRE -
RNRR AU —RESE-—RBHOE
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AEENEREZREETEEBELD -
e 0 ] B ] i R SE AR & I RO R AR R
BEMNKENRI GRS  RIEREE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Revenue from information technology consulting
services

The Group provides information technology consulting services
to the customers. Information technology consulting services fee
income is recognised when the information technology consulting
services is rendered and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the services.

Revenue from hotel reservation and convention
planning services

The Group provides hotel reservation and convention planning
services to the customers. Hotel reservation and convention
planning services fee income is recognised when the hotel
reservation and convention planning services are rendered and
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect customer’s
acceptance of the services.

AT BHmRME (B)

Yz ()

B E B R A s

AEEREF REEMB A BRS
BB ARS B RAREHERR
RAEARBEER  EPTFEXER
FEZIRGOARBEITER

REBERTREZRERHK
HY U 58

AEERNEFREBEEI RS EEE
fR#% - B/ETBET R EZEREIRBEE WA
PR AEE JE TERT K 2 5 R B AR 75 B A
RERTEEFERFEIRBENHE
BITHR -

OTHER INCOME H i e A
2024 2023
ZEZMF —ET—=
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Equipment repairment, technical RS - FITEE S
consultancy, project management HEERBRARZREHE
income and sales of equipment 619,637 768,849
Others Hth 96,515 14,121
716,152 782,970
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R M RR I (B)

10. OTHER GAINS, NET 10. Hitb W = F 88
2024 2023
—ENE —Eo=F
HK$ HK$
T BT
Exchange gains, net b H a5 309,490 316,647
309,490 316,647
11. FINANCE COSTS 11. I R A
2024 2023
—E-ME ==
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest on bank borrowings RITIERFI B 196,962 403,425
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 546,317 257,641
Finance costs B 75 A A 743,279 661,066
12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. ISR X
2024 2023
—ENE =T
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tax ~ BNHAFIIE — B> 2 FR1EH
(“EIT”) and other jurisdictions (TEEMBH] REMRE
= (1,031,005) (1,810,758)
Deferred tax (Note 30) FEEFEIA (FIFE30) 25,063 1,252,909
(1,005,942) (557,849)
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12.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no Hong
Kong Profits Tax has been provided for as the Group did not
generate any estimated assessable profit.

The companies of the Group established in the PRC are subject
to the PRC corporate income tax at the rate of 25% for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Companies incorporated and operating in Macau are subject to
Macau complementary tax, under which taxable income of up to
MOP600,000 is exempted from taxation with amounts beyond this
amount to be taxed at a fixed rate of 12% for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no Macau
complementary tax have been provided for as the Group has
sufficient tax losses brought forward to set off against current
year’s assessable profit.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the
applicable rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the
Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof.

12.

REMREEROBERAT

e MR R M

(%)

FriS BB < (@)

BE_T_WER-_F-_Z=ZF1+=-A
St RLEFEE HRAKEYLEE
i&ﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ’ﬁ*ﬁ%%
BRIS BT IR B -

HEz_Z_NMFER_ZFT-_=F+_-A
== Eiif 7N £ B 5 AR B Ak ST
B A B) B IR T R 25% 81 49 P B 1 % P
B -

PR Y REEBENA 72@@
BEAME/AT Bt REEZ
—HER—_E-_=ZF+_A=1+— E
IEFE 5 %600,00008 ¥ & fE R T
IWABER B BHEENER
EHE12%HF -

HE_T-_NFRER-_T=-=F+=A8
=+—HLEFE BRASEEEH
HEHENIBEBEAEEATFENER
A MR B RIBRPIET S B R A IR
B o

ﬁ@ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂmﬁﬁﬂﬁ$i
BEemErARENRBEE
BLEMRRBETERARERGE -

-

“ECNFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

N

12.

AERBHmRME (E)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The taxation on the profit/(loss) before tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation rate of Hong

Kong as follows:

12. TS BB (&

BB AR M, (B 18) B BB A B R &
REEARERFEMSERESE O
EINE

2024 2023
—E-NE —F==
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Profit/(loss) before tax BRELATE T (E8) 41,108,692 (27,266,077)
Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% RFHE16.5%51 & 6,782,934 (4,498,903)
Effect of different tax rates for different TRBARMESEZNTE
countries 55,930 (665,159)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BASHBBRAN G2
purpose (934,318) -
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for 7~ AT 053 5 % 0 B 75 5 2
tax purpose 1,646,584 2,010,606
Tax effect of temporary differences not AEREREZENUBLE
recognised (4,635,984) -
Tax effect of estimated tax losses not RERGFHIBEEN
recognised Mg E 877,365 4,600,199
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax ~ B)F S AT R R B TH 5 18
loss (2,786,569) (888,894)
Income tax expense TSR x 1,005,942 557,849
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

13. PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

=
#ra R

v %5 s B ek (A8

13. FRER(BE)

2024 2023
—E-NEF -
HK$ HK$
BT BT
The Group’s profit/(loss) for the year is REEFRNGF, (E18) T
stated after charging the following: MR T3S IEESEE
Auditor’s remuneration ZER BN & 750,000 750,000
Cost of equipment and spare parts FtE R E R 1,827,123 2,527,179
Share-based payment for consultation B RS AR AR D K
services - 562,400
Directors’ remuneration (note 14) B2 (HsE14) 4,424,544 3,278,463
Other staff costs: HE{E B -
Salaries and other benefits FehHMmEH 20,758,282 19,568,336
Retirement benefit schemes RIREFET B 5K
contributions 2,031,504 1,499,901
Total staff costs BB A4 27,214,330 24,346,700
Loss on disposals of property, plant and HEWE - BERZRERESR
equipment - 6,185,233
Depreciation of property, plant and M BEREBETE
equipment 30,805,715 23,244,693
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 4,654,904 4,209,634
RENBEERNDERAT —ZT-HFEFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4= A

v 755 o B ek (A8

I N == 7

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to directors and chief

14. B  THABRESHFMH

(a) EERITHRAZTMN
ENRENEARRESRITHE

executive of the Company are as follows: HEHMOT
Salaries and Retirement
other scheme
Fee benefits  contributions Total
FER BRGHE
we A #3% b
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B BT BT BT
Executive directors BiTES
Mr. Cui Hai Bin (Chairman of the Board) EBERE(EESTR)

(redesignated as an executive Directorand ~ (RZFZME— A+ AAfF

chairman on 16 January 2024) RATEERTR) 461,589 - - 461,589
Mr. Ma Lie (Chairman of the Board) EAE(25eTR)

(resigned on 16 January 2024) (RZZZmE-A+AHET) - 32,877 - 32,877
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis BEREE (THER)

(Chief Executive Officer) - 3,341,996 18,000 3,359,996
Ms. Zhang Yan Ling ¥Rt 120,000 - - 120,000
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
Mr. Ji Gui Bao REERE 120,000 - - 120,000
Mr. Cui Hai Bin (redesignated as ERERE(RZTRE

an executive Director and chairman on —A+ 7 EAfA

16 January 2024) PITESRERE) 5,260 - - 5260
Ms. Jiang Yu E EERL 120,000 - - 120,000
Mr. Li Xiao Hua (retired on 18 June 2024)  ZBEE4(R-ZT-M4E

AATNBERE) 55,890 - - 55,890
Mr. Jiang Peiyan (appointed on 31 March IEAEER-_E-=£=A
2023 and resigned on 28 June 2024) Zt-REZARR-Z-_RE
AAZTABEHE) 59,178 - - 59,178
Mr. Chen Lijun (appointed on 30 April 2024 B FE 54 (RZE-HF
and resigned on 6 December 2024) MA=TREZIR
RZB-ME+ZAREEE) 72,658 - - 72,658
Mr. Chen Zhipeng (appointed on REBLE(RZF-mE

6 December 2024) TZRARREZA) 8,548 - - 8,548

Mr. Li Bing (appointed on 6 December 2024) ZFEEA(R-ZT-N4F

TZRAABEZE) 8,548 - - 8,548
Total for year ended 31 December 2024 EZ-F-MF+=-B=+-AL

FEAT 1,031,671 3,374,873 18,000 4,424,544
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

rAEUBHmRME(E)

14. B - 17
(&)

(a) EERITHRARFHMN (50

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND BARNIESFHN

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(CONTINUED)
Salaries Defined
and other contribution
allowances pension
Fee and benefits costs Total
e Ef
e EMREN RIRETE @it
HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS
B BT B BT
Executive directors BTESE
Mr. Ma Lie (Chairman of the Board) SlgE(EEeTR)
(resigned on 16 January 2024) (RZEZME—-A+/ AER) = 750,000 = 750,000
Mr. Yeung Ho Ting Dennis SRR (TTHaH)
(Chief Executive Officer) - 1,595,654 18,000 1,613,654
Mr. Tam Chun Yu (resigned on BEFRE(W-E-=F=R
31 March 2023) =T—REM) - 163,350 4,500 167,850
Ms. Zhang Yan Ling RUR T 120,000 = = 120,000
Independent non-executive directors BUKHTES
Mr. Ji Gui Bao REBRE 120,000 - - 120,000
Mr. Cui Hai Bin (redesignated as égii( E-WE-A+R
an executive Director and chairman on TfmﬂfTi?&‘Eﬁ)
16 January 2024) 120,000 - - 120,000
Mr. Chen Yue (retired by rotation on BuLE(M-T-=F A-1H
20 June 2023) BERT) 56,219 - - 56,219
Ms. Jiang Yu E £TLL 120,000 . % 120,000
Mr. Li Xiao Hua (retired on 18 June 2024)  ZEEER4 (R-E-M&E
~ATNRER) 120,000 - - 120,000
Mr. Jiang Peiyan (appointed on IEREEMRZTZ=E=A
31 March 2023 and resigned on ZT-BEZARA-_Z_NF
28 June 2024) ARAZTNBEHE) 90,740 - - 90,740
Total for year ended 31 December 2023 HZ-F-=F+_f
St-BLEFE&H 746,959 2,509,004 22,500 3,278,463
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AT BHmRME (E)

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(CONTINUED)

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement

benefits during the year (2023: Nil).

None of the directors received or will receive any termination

benefits during the year (2023: Nil).

None of the directors waived or agreed to waive any

emoluments during the year (2023: Nil).

During the year, the Company did not pay consideration to
any third parties for making available directors’ services (2023:

Nil).

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favor
of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors during the year (2023: Nil).

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the period or at any time during the year (2023:

Nil).

(b) Employees’ emoluments

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 include one
director (2023: two directors). The emoluments paid/payable

to the five highest paid individuals are as follows:

14. B  THABRESHFMH

(&)

(a)

(b)

EERTHRARTMH @)

F AR E F WEE S WEE ]
BARBHN(ZT_=F: &) -

FABEE E B YOI YEE (A
BRIERBAN(ZE_=F: &) -

FRAABEENEXREREE
e (ZT_=F: &) -

RERN ARRMERESES
REREME=ZFZMKRE (=
T-ZFE) o

FAMEBEEEUNES ZFES
MZREHEERBEERAY R
AHER EEZREMZS (=
T-ZFE) o

RERSFAEMERE - AR A
WELEKRNNREEHEESME
BEEAERZMABBARRES
MEARS THEREGH(ZZ
TZHE ) o

& & % B

rEEBREBE-_ZE_mWE+ A
—t+—HLEFENRE RS H M
ATBE—RESF(ZE =%
MBES) BEff / ENREE®
BEHEMATHME0OT

2024 2023

—E-NEF SED =

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Salaries and other benefits HokEMEF 5,948,216 5,152,259
Retirement benefit schemes BRRNE T EI R

contributions 90,000 72,000

6,038,216 5,224,259
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e BRI ()

14. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 14. EE - THABRESHH
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) (%)
(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) EEHM (@
The emoluments fell within the following bands: Bl TR IA T EE -
2024 2023
—E-ME =4
Number of Number of
employees employees
EEAH EEAH
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000 BT 4 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 BT E
1,500,000 % 7T - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 B LE
2,000,000 BT - 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001/ TE
3,500,0007% 7T 1 -
5 5
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no BE_TE_NEFER-_FT_=F
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors +ZAZ+—BHLEFE A5£H
or other members of the five highest paid individuals as an MERENESKA A RS 5
inducement to join, upon joining the Group, leaving the ATFBEMKEZFBE - 1
Group or as compensation for loss of office. RREIEMARESR - MARE

Bi%  BERARENREIIES
BEBLFE -

15. DIVIDENDS 15. K&
No dividend was paid, declared or proposed by the Company for AARBEZTE-_NF+=_RAR=+—
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil). BIEFEIYESN - 5k E KM

R (ZE—=F: &) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R M RR I (B)

16. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share is

16. BRER (E18)

FRERRBERN,(ER) RN

based on the following: TEIEE :
Earnings/(loss) BR/(BA)
2024 2023
—E-_ME —E—=
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Profit/(loss) for the purpose of calculating ~ FtEtEEREAEF],(EE)
basic profit/(loss) per share ms 8aH/(EE) 42,309,694 (17,882,091)
2024 2023
“ENF —EB_=fF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Number of shares ®RHEAR
Weighted average number of ordinary RAEEREARF,(EBE)
shares for the purpose of calculating il = B AR AN 1 8
basic earnings/(loss) per share 881,445,110 808,627,920
No diluted earnings/(loss) per share are present as the Company HE_T-_NFR_T=-_=F+=A8

did not have any dilutive potential ordinary shares during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
BEREN(BRE) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A HRREE (8)

17. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 17. EERES
TEBEREAUAESEBEANIESD
RRHE 5 (IEIERRIERS )) MO B 2 B 9
B BB IS AR R A TR Y 8

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have
non-controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group. The
summarised financial information represents amounts before inter-

company eliminations. AIE & H o
Name Shenzhen Xinhang

ey RINEBM

Principal place of business/country of incorporation PRC

FTELEME MR IBER H

% of ownership interests/voting rights held by NCI 77.1%

FERERB AN AEES REEE DL

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At 31 December: Rt+=—A=+—8:
Non-current assets EMBEE 32,100,000 33,105,275
Current assets mENEE 177,008,770 185,335,946
Current liabilities mENaE (12,475,156) (12,663,039)
Net assets BEFE 196,633,614 205,778,182
Accumulated NCI BET I it s 151,604,517 158,654,978
For the year ended 31 December BE+t-A=+—HLEE
Revenue Wz 268,836 2,479,432
Loss for the year FNEBE (2,950,036) (13,295,713)
Total comprehensive expenses 2HMRT @5 (9,144,568) (15,477,272)
Loss allocated to NCI DEEEF TR ERAEE (2,274,478) (10,250,994)
Net cash generated from/(used in) KEZBME /(R RE
operating activities R 4,294,933 (1,760,986)
Net cash generated from investing activities & & B FT15IR & /F 58 19,816 7,779
Net cash used in financing activities MEESTAR e F5E (6,617,302) (12,888,986)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents & KR & FBEYRE D FER (2,302,553) (14,642,193)

BEMEEEROERAT
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
4= AR

B MR M (8)

18. W% BMERKE

Furniture
Visual display and other Motor Leasehold
equipment equipment vehicles improvements Total
REET RER
R Hithi AE HE£E Bzt
HK$ HK$ HKS HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
cosT A
At 1 January 2023 R-Z-=%—HA—H 216,841,251 1,527,420 1,142,325 1,637,399 221,148,395
Additions "B 65,994,254 2,632 = 331,185 66,328,071
Disposals HE (6,237,808) = = = (6,237,808)
Exchange differences [ERZESE (167,895) (403) (22,826) (3,237) (194,361)
At 31 December 2023 and H-ZE_=%+_A
1 January 2024 =+—-BRZZE-REF
=/l= 276,429,802 1,529,649 1,119,499 1,965,347 281,044,297
Additions "B 67,793,731 130,730 515,569 351,850 68,791,880
Exchange differences [ERZES (372,962) (521) (9,060) (4,819) (387,362)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-_ME+_A
EFIE 343,850,571 1,659,858 1,626,008 2,312,378 349,448,815
ACCUMULATED 25T E
DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2023 W-Z-=%—HA—H 156,270,590 1,433,695 1,083,925 1,620,723 160,408,933
Charge for the year FAXH 23,075,382 48,571 58,400 62,340 23,244,693
Disposals & (52,575) = = = (52,575)
Exchange differences BN ERE (90,146) (403) (22,826) (19,572) (132,947)
At 31 December 2023and H-ZE-=%+_F
1 January 2024 e Rl = ) Gl 23
—fA—H 179,203,251 1,481,863 1,119,499 1,663,491 183,468,104
Charge for the year FAXH 30,495,803 40,245 99,445 170,222 30,805,715
Exchange differences X ERE (156,535) (603) (10,260) (2,964) (170,362)
At 31 December 2024 RZZZWE+=A
== 209,542,519 1,521,505 1,208,684 1,830,749 214,103,457
CARRYING AMOUNT BREE
At 31 December 2024 RZE-_NE+=A
== 134,308,052 138,353 417,324 481,629 135,345,358
At 31 December 2023 R-Z-=F+-R
Ear—E 97,226,551 47,786 = 301,856 97,576,193

Brightstar Technology Group Co., Ltd Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
%ﬁégﬁ%%i&%ﬁﬁl DE (/\‘/\)

19. GOODWILL 19. B8
Carrying amount ARE &
HK$
BT
As at 1 January 2023 R-—ZFE—_=%—H—H -
Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary E Y B B A 489,054
Carrying amount as at 31 December 2023, MRZZBEZ=F+"A=+—H0 ZZE-_MmMF—H
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 —BAk—ZE_MF+-_A=+—HHEAEE 489,054

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at
acquisition, to the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) that are expected
to benefit from that business combination.

BB E R =

FREBAHUNBARERKER S
REBABRZESAHPITENS
cELEBEN([BREEEEM]) -

The carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows: HEMNREMES KR :
HK$
BT
Hotel reservation and convention planning service B JETER] & &% 48 81 RIS 489,054

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined on the
basis of their value in use using discounted cash flow method.
The key assumptions for the discounted cash flow method are
those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and budgeted
gross margin and revenue during the period. The Group estimates
discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
CGUs. The growth rates are based on long-term average economic
growth rate of the geographical area in which the businesses of
the CGUs operate. Budgeted gross margin and revenue are based
on past practices and expectations on market development.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by the directors for the next five
years with the residual period using the growth rate of 4% (2023:
4%). The rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate
for the relevant markets.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows from the Group’s
hotel reservation and convention planning services activities is 20%
(2023: 20%).

ReELBUNR KOS EERMARE
BenB8rtEEREEET MR
BanBENERBRYSRBRE

BEZARBABEENERKA -

AEEBFEARREEHHEEE TS
ATl N IR & B A B K E L B B AT
MEGBFABRR - BRRUBESESL
BURKEEMmELENRBFHE
EREERSGEE -FAEENXREA
ERNBEEHRHHEEROED -

R S B R R O 0 SO B 75 TR
HRUARTFORSREEA  H
BB AR A% (B =4 : 4%)
BEE - WM REYD MBRIEET S
M RBERE -

AEEBRBEET R EFERERSE
HMBAIR SRS MR X A20%
T =F:20%) °

REMREBRNAERAT —Z-NFFHR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R M RR I (B)

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Disclosure of lease-related items:

20. FRAEEE

MEMPEAREMT

2024 2023
—E-ME —F=-=
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Right-of-use assets EREEE
— Premises /ES 8,916,277 10,296,866
— Office equipment - MRHAE 19,210 26,414
8,935,487 10,323,280
The maturity analysis, based on AEEHEABRREBEARER
undiscounted cash flows, of the REeEMEELHNIEA S
Group’s lease liabilities is as follows: M
— Less than 1 year - 1A 1,999,183 5,324,531
— Between 1 and 2 years —122F 4,438,943 4,336,868
— Between 2 and 5 years - 2&5F 3,631,803 2,101,258
10,069,929 11,762,657
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

rAEUBHmRME(E)

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 20. ERAREEE @
2024 2023
—E-ME e
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Year ended 31 December BHEt+-A=1+—HItEE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE
— Premises . /JE 4,647,700 4,202,430
— Office equipment — MR 7,204 7,204
4,654,904 4,209,634
Lease interests HE#ER 546,317 257,641
Expenses related to short-term leases MEIHE MR 1,192,611 802,811
Cash outflow for leases HERS RN
— Payments for short-term leases in —BHEERMERRED
respect of rental premises and HEEEMK
equipment 1,192,611 802,811
— Payments of principal and interest — EEHEAGBAE R
element of lease liabilities B E o 4,757,040 4,625,857
5,949,651 5,428,668
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFRAEEE 3,267,111 10,875,874

The Group leases various premises and office equipment. Rental
contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 5 years. Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do
not impose any covenants other than the rental deposits in the
leased assets that are held by the lessors. Leased assets were not be
used as security for borrowing purposes.

There are no extension and termination options included in the
lease contracts.

AEBHESBYWELBOARE -H
EAWBEEHRR -—BRRRIESF-H

ERFRREBELERE EREZRE
THMM&M# BREBEAMBHEE
BEEMHEEREI HEBZRLER
MEMRGE HEEETSRERR
A -

HEANTERSTERIRIEERE -

BREMEEEROHERLR —Z_NFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

R M RR I (B)

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,

PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS

H i EWRRIR - TS

2024 2023
—E-F —T=F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Trade receivables (note a) B 5 e soE (K sta) 37,110,744 26,939,626
Less: allowance for bad and doubtful debts & @ RIZREEE (11,598,380) (14,713,125)
Trade receivables, net B 5 R GRIRFH 25,512,364 12,226,501
Prepayments for purchase of equipment BB R HM BN FIE 1,710,566 2,977,899
Deposits for equipment rental JEHEZS 800,000 800,000
Prepayment and deposits (note b) A FRIE RS (M 5Eb) 136,459,381 44,216,013
Other receivables (note c) Hfth pE W 3k 38 (B aEc) 44,300,656 132,421,099
Receivables from newly acquired FE M UL BB BT B 2 R BT AR R
subsidiary’s former shareholders A 6,287,842 7,331,554
215,070,809 199,973,066
Less: Non-current portion B IEMEE S
Prepayments for purchase of BEREENRIE
equipment (1,710,566) (2,977,899)
Prepayment and deposits (note b) B RIBERIES (H5Eb) (108,000,000) =
(109,710,566) (2,977,899)
Current portion REE T 105,360,243 196,995,167
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e IR (8)

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 21. EZ REMERKIE - AN
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (CONTINUED) MEREZEE @)
(a) Trade receivables (a) EZEWARE
The Group’s trade receivables are generally settled by cash on REENEZHEBHEBE-—RER
delivery or credit period of 90 days after provision of services. BRI IEHARB2I0KEE A H
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s ageing AARSEE - R_T_WNER
analysis of the gross trade receivables based on invoice date ZEZ=F+ZHA=+—H 'K
is as follows: SEERBREAHNAZEFTER
RIBRBROTOT
2024 2023
—EBNF —T-=F
HK$ HK$
BT BIT
0-30 days 030K 9,728,229 11,100,929
31-60 days 31E60K 6,711,275 5,783,164
61-90 days 61290k 2,449,450 840,689
Over 90 days H3E90K 18,221,790 9,214,844
37,110,744 26,939,626
Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the REXEMHER 28 AEBE ST
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by HEEEPNEEERIRER S H
customer. Credit limits attributable to customers are reviewed FEEE AEEEEHRIE,H
regularly. EEHEE -
Movement on the provision for impairment of trade BHRWKRIBERERENESHOT

receivables is as follows:

2024 2023

—EBEF ZEZ=F

HK$ HK$

BT BIT

At beginning of the year F1 14,713,125 11,453,365
(Reversal of impairment loss allowance)/ FR CRERBEERR),

provision for impairment losses WA BB EE
for the year (3,114,745) 3,259,760
At end of the year FR 11,598,380 14,713,125
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AT BHmRME (E)

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

(a) Trade receivables (CONTINUED)

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected
loss provision for all trade receivables. In determining the
expected credit losses for trade receivables, the management
of the Group has taken into account the historical default
experience and the future prospect of the industries and/or
considering various external sources of actual and forecast
economic information, as appropriate, in estimating the
probability of default of each of the trade receivables
occurring within their respective loss assessment time horizon,
as well as the loss upon default in each case.

21.%’5& L fth FE U RRIE - FEAS
ﬁ&&é%)

(a)

g 5 EWFRIE (@)

AEEEREBMBERELERE

PRI A REHEER
B RAEEZREREAERZ
HEHERERE RETEIR
BRENBREEBHRE A%
EEEECEEREELEOER R
TENNR R/ AEERRER
BR B FEUBI O 4808 BUR 2 IR SRR
(WER) - U EBHESEK
REEEEBBENFEFEEE
BB AEMEIASLENERX -

Current 1-90 91-180 181-365
(not yet days days days > 1 year
due) past due past due past due past due Total
B (1 B B ot et
) 12908 91Z180A 181E365H BBIE @it
At 31 December 2024 HR-Z-MFE+-A
Sqr—ig
Weighted average MEFYEHEEE
expected loss rate 0% 43% 49% 63% 95%
Receivable amount (HK$) &l 038 (& 7T) 18,888,954 6,364,458 3,492,350 2,490,000 5,874,982 37,110,744
Loss allowance (HK$) BB RE (ET) - 2,736,080 1,721,729 1,559,338 5,581,233 11,598,380
At 31 December 2023 RZZE-=%+_f
Sls
Weighted average MEFHEHERE
expected loss rate 46% 43% 49% 63% 95%
Receivable amount (HK$) & 78 (L) 17,724,782 3,079,158 778,777 950,000 4,406,909 26,939,626
Loss allowance (HK$) 1B & (BT) 8,206,465 1,323,679 383,906 594,153 4,204,922 14,713,125
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
4= AR

JIA gy /\ZI‘ZIZ%$&§§|Z{\‘J‘§3\£ (%fg)

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

(b) Prepayments and deposits

(c)

Prepayments and deposits mainly represent rental and utility
deposits and prepayments for insurance and maintenance
and also the prepayments to IT services provider. The Group
does not ho